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UN1' ED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SO THERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
----- --~-~------------------~~--------------"_._----_.){
ALI . E ANN nJ1'JG on her own behalf, as
Exeutrix of the Estate ofMIROSLAV .ITJNG j

Dec ased l JOSEF JUNO, MICHELLE JUNG,
and AROSLAV JUNG alkJa JERRY JUNG

Plaintiffs,

~against-

J T C. NESCHIS, individually and in her
cap tities as Trustee of the Jacques and Natasha
Gel an Trust dated November 18, 1997, and as
Tm ee of the Trust Created Under the Last Will
Tes ent of Natasha Gelman dated April 23,
199 ,ROBERT p, LITTMAN, individually end in
hisapacity as Successor Trustee of the Trust
ere ted Under the Last Will and Testament of
Natsha Gelman dated April 23, 1993, and

YLIN G. DIAMOND, individually and in her
cap city as Trustee of the Jacques and Natasha Gelman
Tru t dated November 18, 1997, and as Trustee of the
Tru t created Under the Last Will 3l1d Testament of
Nat sha Gelman dated April 23, 1993, ANTURIA
ST . TUNG, DR. MARTIN ESCHER, DR. PETER
SP NGER and Dr, CONRAD SClillLTHESS,

Defendants.

---- -------~--------------------------------_.----------)(

0000000000

01 Civ. 6993 (RM:B)(SDNY)

AMENDED
COMPLAINT

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

P.01

Plaintiffs Alice Ann Jung, on her own behalf, as Executrix of the Estate ofMIROSLAV

.G, JOSEF JUNO, MICHELLE ruNG, and JERRY JUNG on their ovvn behalf and JOSEF

G and MICHELLE JUNG (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Plaintiff lung

ily"), by their attorneys, Edwin Kassoff, as General Counsel to Steven L. Levitt &

dates, p.e., as and for their Amended Complaint, respectfully allege, upon infonnation and

bel ~f, as follows:

1. That this action arises from a fraudulent scheme perpetrated by Defendants Janet
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C. eschis (hereinafter referred to as "Defendant Neschis"), Robert R. Littman (hereinafter

refe' ed to as "Defendant Littman") and others, to defraud Mrs. Natasha Gelman (hereinafter

refe' ed to as "Mrs. Gelman"), an elderly, wealthy widow who became mentally incompetent in

theast years of her life. The purpose of the scheme was to obtain control over Mrs. Gelman's
I

sub tantial assets and divert them to Defendant Neschis' and Defendant Littman's personal use

2. That to carry out the scheme, inter alia, the Defendant Neschis and Defendant

Li an interfered with the contractual rights and legitimate expectations of the charitable

ben ficiaries of a Liechtenstein Foundation (hereinafter the "Defendant Antuna Stiftung")

esta: lished by Mrs. Gelman and her late husband.

3. That Plaintiff Jung Family was an intended beneficiary of the Defendant Antuna

g.

4. That the Defendant Nescrus and Defendant Littman unlawfully obtained control

ove Mrs. Gelman's assets through a concerted plf.lll~ which included, inter alia, the creation of

frau ulent will and trust documents and fraudulent letters of instruction purporting to express the

inte tions of Mrs. Gehnan; accompanying Mrs. Gelman to meetings with outside parties who

mig t have discovered the extent of Mrs. Gelman's incapacitated condition, and controlling such

con acts and meetings in such a way as to prevent Mrs. Gelman's incapacitated condition from

bee ming obvious; when such control or attempts at control failed, using financial influence, and

thre' ts, to coerce third parties into remaining silent with respect to Mrs. Gelman's incapacitated

con ition, and other misconduct as yet unknown to the Plaintiff Juug Family.

5. That the conspiracy to defraud Mrs. Gelman and steal from her legitimate

ben ficiaries was formed in New York and many of the acts in furtherance of the conspiracy
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were erpetrated in New York.

6. That Defendant Neschis was Mrs. Gelman's attorney. That Defendant Littman

e assets of Mrs. Gelman throughout the world. The Defendants Neschis, Littmall and

nd were assisted by others residing ill the U.S., Mexico and Europe, including but not

rs. Gelman's close compani01'l.l who took up residence in her home in Mexico, and used

limit d to the other Defendants herein. The Defendants also include the trustees of two trusts

Di

that p oxirnity of residence to further his and the Defendant Neschis' scheme to obtain control

creat d fraudulently by Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman to receive the proceeds of

their fraud.

7. That these acts, as well as the acts as yet unknown to the Plaintiffs, occurred

dU11 g the last years of Mrs. Gelman's life after she had been rendered incompetent by

Alz eimer's disease and was incapable ofprotecting her own interests or managing her own

s.

8. That following the onset oOv1rs. Gelman's incapacity, the Defendant Neschis, the

.ndant Littman and the Defendant Marylin G. Diamond (hereinafter referred to as the

. endant Diamond") and others acted to effect unauthorized changes to Mrs. Gelman's

cial affairs and/or estate plan, including causing changes to the by laws of a Liechtenstein

I

fou· dation (the Defendant Anturia Stiftung) which had been created by Mrs. Gelman and her late

hu and to provide funds to members orMIs. Gelman's family (the Plaintiff lung Family) as

we 1as to vroious charities involved in health care research and the arts, to convert for their own

us and benefit millions of dollars intended for Plaintiff Jung Family and others by transferring

th funds into fraudulently created trusts and/or to their own control.

9. That the Defendants Neschis, Littman, Diamond and others took advantage of

3
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Mrs. Gelman's mental condition and, falsely purporting to act on Mrs, Gelman's behalf, caused

unle . ful and unauthorized changes in the beneficiary provisions of the By Laws of the

dant Antuna Stiftung, which changes, inter alia, purported to eliminate Plaintiff lung
I

Fam ]y as beneficiary.

10. That upon infonnation and belief~ the Defendant Anturia Stiftung, through its

offic rs and/or directors and/or agents, including but not limited to the Defendants Dr. Martin

Esch r (hereinafter referred to as the "Defendant Dr. Escher"), Dr. Peter Sprenger (hereinafter

refe ed to as the "Defendant Dr. Sprenger") and Dr. Conrad Schulthess (hereinafter refelTed to

as th "Defendant Dr. Schulthess") as members of the Board of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung~

as wll as a now-deceased member of that Board, one Dr. Willy Staehe1in~ (hereinafter referred

to as "Dr. Staehelin") knew, andlor had reason to know that, by 1991, at the latest, Mrs. Gelman

capable of changing~ directing or causing the change, or agreeing to the change, of any of

the . -laws of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung because her capacity to do so had been destroyed
I

by t e progression of her Alzheimer's Disease,

11. That despite such knowledge on the part of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung it

agl'ed, through its officers and/or directors and/or agents to adopt. agree to and/or implement

purp rted changes to the Defendant Antuna's Stiftung by-laws which purported to change the

perc utages of shares of distribution to the detrim.ent of the Plaintiffs and to the benefit of the

DeBldants Neschis, Littman and Diamond.

12. That at the behest of the Defendant Neschis, with the assistance of the Defendant

Liann, the Defendant Diamond, the Defendant Antuna Stiftung acting through members oftts

Boa d, exerted economic influence, including the threat that they would withdraw the funds

mail tained by the Defendant ;\nturia Stiftung from various financial institutions, if those

4
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institution questioned Mrs. Gelman's capacity to cause changes to the By-Laws of the

Defendan Anturia Stiftung.

13 That the Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman unlawfully withdrew and/or

converted over $10 million from the Defendant Anturia StiftU11g, and other funds and property of

Mrs, Gel anl during her lifetime.

That the repeated and persistent acts of fraud and undue influence on Mrs.

Gelman e gaged in by the Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman, and others~ as set forth

below, w 'ch were designed to convert Mrs. Gelman's assets to the Defendant Neschis and

Defendan Littman by effecting unauthorized changes to Mrs. Gelman's estate plan, constitute a

pattern 0 racketeering activity that began in 1990 or 1991 and which continues to the present

day.

1. That since the outset of the proceedings relating to Mrs. Gelman's affairs, in 1998,

the Defe dant Diamond has lent her suppOJi to the positions taken by the Defendants Neschis

and Lit an in various proceedings, including the probate proceedings in the New York County

Surragat 's Court and a Liechtenstein arbitration. In addition, the Defendant Diamond has

qualified to serve) and is serving l as a trustee of an Inter Vivos Trust created by Mrs. Gelman,

gh accepting this role required special permission from the Chief Administrative Judge

t of her judicial status. In November of2001, the Defendant Diamond personally

received $1,100,000 of the proceeds of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung as a result of the

Liecht teill arbitration.

By this lawsuit, Plaintiff Jung Family seeks:
I

a. a declaration that Plaintiff lung Family is entitled to receive a distribution

afnot less than twenty-seven (27%) percent of the assets. wherever

5
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located of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung;

b. an award of damages against the Defendant Neschis, Defendant Littman

and Defendant Diamond, and/or an Order that they disgorge from the

fraudulently-created trusts, a sum of money equal to the amount of the

Plaintiff Jung Family's rightful share of the assets of the Defendant

Anturia Stifttmg, including its proportionate share of the amounts
I

unlawfully withdrawn from the Defendant Antuna Stiftung by the

Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman, plus interest;

c. the imposition of constructive trust over the property of all of the

Defendants;

d. the assessment of punitive damages against the Defendant Neschis,

Defendant Littman and Defendant Diamond;

e. an award of treble damages against the Defendant Neschis and Defendant

Littman under the RICO statute; and

f. an award of attorney's fees that Plaintiff Jung Family was required to

expend to uncover and expose Defendant's misfeasance, against the

Defendant Neschis, Defendant Littman and Defendant Diamond.

u :Isdiction a

17. This action arises under:

a. the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations provisions of the

Organized Crime Control Act of 1970; 18 U.S.c. § 1961, et seq. ("RICO'I)

and;

b. applicable common law principles of conversion a.nd tortious interference

6
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T

with contract. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under RICO, 18

U.S.c. § 1965(a), Section 1331 of the Judicial Code (28 US.C. § 1331)

(federal question jUrisdiction) and Section 1367 of the Judicial Code (28

u.s.c. § 1367 (supplemental jurisdiction). The amount in controversy

exceeds $75,000) exclusive of costs and interests.

That venue is proper in this District pursuant to RICO, 18 U,S,C, § 1965(a), and

391 of the Judicial Code (28 U.S.C. § 1391). The Defendant Neschis, Defendant

nd Defendant Diamond reslde in New York, and most of the events giving rise to the

serted herein occurred in New Yark.

9. That at all times hereinafter mentioned, Plaintiff Alice Ann Jung was and still is

an indiv dual and a reside11t of the County of San Bernadino, State of California.

O. That at all times hereinafter mentioned, Plaintiff Jerry lung was and still is an

individ al and a resident of the County of San Bernadino, State of California.

1. That at all times hereinafter mentioned, Plaintiff Josef lung was and still is an

individ a1 and a resident of the County of San Bernadino, State of California.

2, That at all times hereinafter mentioned, Plaintiff Michelle Jung was and still is an

individ a1 and a resident of the County of San Bernadino, State of California.

3. That at all times hereinafter mentioned, the Defendant NesclUs was and is an

attome admitted to practice in the State of New York. At the present time) the Defendant

Neschi is a member of the law finn of McLaughlin & Stem, LLP. During the time of the events

at issu herein, the Defendant Neschis was a member of the law firm of Leavy, Rosensweig &

Hym . That the Defenda.nt Neschis is a resident of the State of New York.

7
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4, That the Defendant Neschis alleges to have been appointed as a trustee of the

Jacques d Natasha Gelman Trust, a testamentary trust, by the tenns of the alleged Last Will

and Yes ament of Natasha Gelman dated April 23, 1993 and is presently purporting to serve in

that cap city,

That the Defendant Neschis was allegedly appointed as a trustee of the Jacques

and Nat sha Gelman trust~ an inter vivos trust, by the tenns of the trust instrument dated

r 18, 1997, and is presently pUl'Porting to serve in that capacity.

That the Defendant Neschis is sued individually and in her capacities as Trustee

of the Ja ques and Natasha Gelman inter vivos trust and as Trustee of the Jacques and Natasha

That the Defendant Diamond is an atto111ey admitted to practice in the State of

That at all times hereinafter mentioned, the Defendant Littman is a resident of the

The Defendant Diamond is a resident of the State of New York.

That at all times hereinafter mentioned j the Defendant Diamond is sued

stee of the Jacques and Natasha Gehnan testamentary trust.

ew York. The Defendant Littman was allegedly appointed as an alternate trustee of the

fthe Jacques and Natasha Gelman testamentary trust.

nd Natasha Gelman Trust l a testamentary trust, by the terms of the Last Will and

Testame t ofNatasha Gehnan dated April 23; 1993. I

That the Defendant Littman is sued individually and in his capacity as alternate

Gelman estarnentary trust.

New Yo k and, since 1991, is an Acting Justice of the New York Supreme Court sitting in New

individu lly and in her capacities as Trustee of the Jacques and Natasha Gelman inter vivos trust

Yorke

31. That at various times set forth herein l the Defendant Diamond was a partner in the

8
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law finn of avy Rosenweig & Hyman, in which the Defendant Neschis was also a paiinel'.

t Diamond represented Mrs. Gelman prior to the time she left the finn to assume

her duties as ajudge. Thereafter, the Defendant Diamond was allegedly appointed as a trustee of

d Natasha Gelman Trust, a testamel1tary trust, by the tenns of the alleged Last Will

and Testam nt of Natasha Gelman dated April 23, 1993 and is presently purporting to serve in

that capaci

32. That the Defendant Diamond was allegedly appointed as a trustee ofthe Jacques

and Natas Gelman Trust, (hereinafter referred to as "the Inter Vivos Trust"), by the tenus of

the trust in trument dated November 17, 1997, and is pr~sently purporting to serve in that

capacity.

33 That at all times hereinafter mentioned, the Defendant Antuna Stiftung was a

charitabl foundation organized under the laws of the Principality ofLiechtenstein, with its

offices in Vaduz, Liechtenstein.

3. That at various times hereinafter mentioned, the Defendant Dr. Escher, Defendant

Dr. Spre ger and Defendant Dr. Schulthess were members of the Board of the Defendant

5. That Jacques and Natasha Gelman accumulated substantial wealth as a result of

Mr. Ge man's success as an entertainment agent and l film producer. The Gelmans became

collect rs ofmodem art and by the end oftheir lives had accumulated a collection of

appro' ately eighty-five (85) paintings by modern European masters like Picasso, Matisse,

Miro d Bonnard and a separate collection of9S works ofMexican modern art, both of which

are w rld-renowned.

9
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That Jacques and Natasha Gelman had Ino children,

That to preserve their wealth, the Gelmans established various offshore

Some of these entities were fanned to receive tho royalties ofMr. Gelman's

That these entities were created on the advice of Sidney Cohn, Esq., :Mr,

longtime attorney and, upon infonnation and belief, the father of the Defendant

Mr. Cohn had established relationships in, among other places, Liechtenstein and

d, which facilitated the creation ofLiechtenstei.n investment entities on behalf of his

clients, t e Gehnans.

That the aSSets deposited into these entities were to be distributed in accordance

with the, terms upon the death ofthe Gelmans, and ~ould not pass under the Gehnans' wills.

Among hese entities were the Waterford Settlement Trust j Aldford Holdings Limited,

Paramo nt Holdings, Limited, Anturi,a Stiftung Foundation and others.

That the Defendant Neschis took advantage of her father's established

relation 'ps in Switzerland and Liechtenstein and elsewhere to gain the trust of these foreign

fiducia es, which facilitated her fraudulent schemes.

That in or about 1985, the Gelmans founded the Defendant Antwia. Stiftung, a

Stiftung (or foundation) organized under the laws of the Principality of Liechtenstein.

That as of June 1998, the Defendant Antuna Stiftung held in excess of $36

million n assets; and as of July 1,2001, the Defendant Antuna Stifttmg held in excess of $39.8
I

million n assets ..

3. That upon infonnatiol1 and belief, the laws of the Principality of Liechtenstein

provide that a Stiftung is an entity ad111Jnistered by a board of tnlstees in accordance with its

10
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chart r by-laws. The Charter of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung provides that "The pui"pose dt

. roria shall be the management ofthe Defendant Antuna Stiftung's capital assets and all

trans ctions relating thereto, as well as the distribution of bequests from the earnings ofthe

Defe dent Anttrria Stiftung's capital assets l or frqm the capital assets themselves, to any person

and! r institutions designated as beneficiaries by the Board of Trustees in a governing

44. Tha.t in accordance with the Charter, the board of trustees of the Defendant

.a Stiftul1g (hereinafter referred to collectively as the "Defendant Anturia Trustees")

.ed by~laws. As further described herein, the by-laws of the Defendant Auturia Stiftung, as

ded from time to time, provided that the assets of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung would be

'buted to the beneficiaries of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung in accordance with the terms of

y~laws upon the death of the surviving spouse.

45. That it was expressly understood by the Gelmans and the Defendant Anturia

T tees and/or Fides and/or Credit Suisse, that tihe Gelmans would provide instructions, and that

efendant Anturia Trustees would follow the instructions of the Gelmans, with respect to

ging the beneficiaries and the bequests set forth in the by~laws.

46. That at the time that the Defendant Anturia Stiftung was established, the: Gelmans

we e assured that they would continue to control the money in the Defendant Anturia Stiftu1'1g.

T s assurance was also given effect by the designation of Jacques and Natasha Gelman as

un auditional primary beneficiaries of the foundation.

47. That it was clear to everyone when the F0U11dation was established, and later on

ell, that the wishes of the Gelmans, particularly with respect to the designation of

bleficiaries, the shares such beneficiaries were to receive, and the amendments to the By-Laws,

I

11
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were al ays to be carried out. In fact, all legitimate changes were institutCid and alXtlidftzed

persona ly by Mr. or Mrs. Gelman,

8, That pursuant to the By-Laws as they existed in 1985, the Plaintiff Jung Family

was to ceive w.'enty-eight (28%) percent of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung's assets, with

virtual1 all of the remainder going to various charitable institutions,

9, That Jacques Gelman died on July 23 , 1986.

O. That from time to time following J\1r. Gelrnan's death, and prior to her loss of

mental apacity, Mrs. Gelman made certain legitimate amendments to the By-Laws of the.

Defend t Anturia Stiftung. On each occasion on which a legitimate change was made, Mrs.

Gelm traveled to Zurich, Switzerland, and made the changes in her own handwriting to a copy

That on or about August 10, 1989, plior to the events at issue herein, and while

Mrs. G lrnan remained of sound mind and free of duress and undue in.fluence, the By-Laws of

the De endant Antuna Stiftung were amended to provide as follows:

a. that Plaintiff Jung Family, would receive thirty-four percent (34%) efthe

assets of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung;

b. that the Weizman Institute wbuld receive twenty percent (20%) of the

assets of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung;

c. that other named charities would receive thirty-nine percent (39%) of the

assets of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung (the charities and the pel'cellt of

the assets to be given to each was specifically set forth); and

d. that other named beneficiaries would receive the remaining seven percent

(7%) ofthe assets.

12
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That in 1989, l\1rs. Gelman agreed to bequeath the coheaionolrif<fde'ffi':e.urop'ean

ed at more that $300 million, to the Metropolitan Museum of Art in New York. The

museu exhibited the Jacques and Natasha Gelman collection in 1990. The Ge1mans' Mexican

etien and real property in Mexico were to be disposed of in accordance with a Mexican

e Gehnans' remaining New York assets were to be disposed of by a will to be probated

ark.

That on or about August 13, 1991, prior to the events at issue herein, and while

Mrs. G lman remained of sound mind and free of duress and wldue influence, the by-laws of the

Defend nt Antuna Stiftung were amended to providet as follows:

a. that Plaintiff .Tung Family would receive as much as approximately thirty­

seven percent (37%) of the assets of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung;

b. that Defendant Littman would receive approximately one percent (1 %) of

the assets of the Defendant i\nturia Stiftung;

c. that the Weizman Institute would receive twenty percent (20%) of the

assets of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung;

d. that other named charities would receive thirty-nine percent (39%) of the

assets of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung (the charities and the percent of

the assets to be given to each was speoifically set forth); and

e. other named beneficiaries woJ'lld receive the remaining three percent (3%)

of the assets.

prior b

4. That the percentage interests of Plaintiff lung Family were increased from the

That the by-laws datod August 10, 1989 and/or the by-laws dated August 13~ 1991

13
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,.,ere the last by-} s executed in accordance with Mrs. Gelman's instructions whmrNf't's,

Gelman remaine of sound mind and free of duress and undue influence (the ~'Last Valid By-

. "'1'

e

56. at some time in late 1991 l Mrs. Gelman began to suffer from Alzheimer's

disease progressed, Ml"S. Gelmal1 became forgetful, did not want to socialize, and

outbursts and other in'ational behavior. After a serious bout with pneumonia in

November 19 1, her condition worsened to the point where she became listless, could not recall

day-to-dayev nts and was confused by financial transactions.

57. That by late 1991, the nature ofMrs. Gehnan's condition, and her inability to

58.

Gelman

ffairs1 became obvious.

That by late 1991, Mrs. Gelman could no longer travel independently. As a

efendant Littman accompanied her on all of her travels between Mexico, New York,

That by 19941 in conversations with a member of the Plaintiff Jung Family, Mrs.

unable to recognize or acknowledge the identity of the Defendant Neschis and the

Defendan Diamond as her attorneys.

6. That on or about December 11. 1994, in a conversation with a member of the

Plaintiff ung Family, Mrs. Gelman1 who was in her home in Mexico, denied having been to

New Y k for many years. even though she had been there within the past year, and had traveled

ark on numerous occasions.

61. That as early as January of 19921 Mrs. Gelman was diagnosed as suffering from

I

short t nn memory deficit, and was treated with prescription medicatiol1S for Alzheimer's

14
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62. That in March 1995~ Mrs. Gelman was examined by Fred Plum, M.D., a

filiated with the New York Hospital - Cornell Medical Center, Dr. Plum

concluded, i a written report of his examination, that "Mrs. Gelman appears to have progressive

Disease with a fairly typical pattern of memory loss leading all cognitive disabilities

I

.oretion/' and that "the results of the present examination indicate that she lacks

testament mental capacity."

63. That based on Dr. Plum's finding and eyewitness accounts of Mrs, Gelman's

condition om the time of her husband's death, Robert Freundlich, M,D., a neurologist with

experienc treating elderly patients with Alzheimer's disease, concluded in 1999 that Hit is my

opinion t at Mrs. Gelman was suffering from dementia of the Alzheimer's type in 1992.'1

That on the same day she met with Dr. Plwn, Mrs. Gelman told a member of the

Plaintiff ung Family that she wanted to speak to Hher mommy" on that day. even though her

d died in 1969.

That the Gelmans were originally represented by Sidney Cohn. Esq., a member of
I

Cohn, lickstein & Lurie (the "Cohn finn"). Mr. Cohn was an entertairunent lawyer who had a

longst ding relationship with 1\11". Gelman dating back to the 1950's. The Cohn :finn prepared

wills d codicils for the Gelmans until 1989. Mr. Cohn died in 1991.

66. That shortly before Mr. Cohn's death, representation ofMrs, Gelman was

transfl ned to the Defendant Diamond, then an attorney in the Cohn firm. That the Defendant

Diam .nd represented Mrs. Gelman until the Defendant Diamond was elected as a judge in 1991.

67, That the Defendant Diamond subsequently obtained pennissiol1 from the

A nistrative Judge of the Courts, in 1998, to continue to be involved with the management of

15
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's affairs "on weekends and evenings." W'hile the Defend;~t"Dfa.mon(l¥~f~'s!rlted~·'·

that she ha been made a co-trustee of charitable trusts which Mrs. Gelmal1 had established, in

making till representation she failed to report to the Administrative Judge that the trusts in

question cntrolled tens ofmillions of dollars, and that Mrs. Gelman I s estate included substantial

amous art collections and foundations and trusts in this country and in several foreign

In or about 1991, representation ofMrs. Gelman was transferred to the Defendant

I

Neschis, . Cohn's daughter and the Defendant Diamond's fomler law partner. It was aroul1d

or after r. Cohn's death l when the Defendant Neschis became counsel to Mrs. Gelman, that the

events at ssue herein commenced.

6 That in or about late J991, the Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman, with

the assis anee of the Defendant Diamond, began to take unlawful advantage of Mrs. Gelman's

mental condition by fraudulently assuming fiscal authority over Mrs. Gelman' 5 assets,

g themselves as the sole custodians ofher substantial estate and charitable trust,

unlaw ly taking millions of dollars from the Defendant Antuna Stiftung and Mrs. Gelman's

assets, and increasing the bequests, commissions and/or fees to be received by these

ts.

70. That on or about December 2, 1991 and April 1, 1992, Mrs. Gelman purportedly

execut d general powers of attorney in favor of the Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman.

The 0 ly witness to the power of attomey granted to the Defendant Littman was the Defenda.l1t

Nesc s. The witness to the powers of attorney granted to the Defendant Neschis were

empl yees of the Defendant Neschis' own law firm. In addition, during April of 1992, Mrs.

purportedly signed several additional powers of attorney authorizing the Defendant

16
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Neschis to CO 'duct transactio~sin Mrs. Gelman's account~ ~t~;;~'~,;~rbV~i';
iff'N'~~'YaFkr'~"?
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71 . That these documents were exe:cuted under duress and undue influenol:' and after

That on or about April I, 1992. Mrs. Gelman purportedly executed a Mexican

was no longer of sound mind, and for the purpose of obtaining and consolidating

72.

7. That this document was executed under ,duress and undue influence and after Mrs.the Defen ant Neschis' law finn.
New ¥ork,and was witnessed only by the Defendant Neschis and a legal assistant employed by

the Defend ts' control over Mrs. Gelman's assets,

Gelman as no longer of sound mind. and for the purpose of obtaining and consolidating

Defenda ts' control over Mrs. Gelman's assets.

That at various times between April and October 1992, the Defendants Neschis.

and Diamond caused the trustees of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung to enact fraudulent

By-La, s which purported substantially to change the dispositive provisions of those By~Laws to

ong others. the Defendant Littman al1d the Defendant Diamond and a charitable trust to

be con, rolled by the Defendant Neschis,

That to the extent that Mrs. Gelman purportedly requested or ratified such

S, such requests and ratification were the product of duress and undue influence exerted by

the fendant Neschis, Defendant Littman and Def:mdant Diamond after Mrs. Gelman was no

long r of sound mind~ and for the purpose of obtaining and consolidating those Defendants'

cont 01 over Mrs. Gelman's assets.

17
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comp '/ responsible for admhlistering the Defendaht Anturia Stiftung.

That at the time of this trip, Dr. Made1ine~Claire Levis, an employee of Fides

; ly responsible for administration of the Defel1dant Antuna Stiftung, fonned the opinion

that ' s. Gelman was no longer of sound mind.
i
Ii 78. That in June 1992, the Defendant Neschis inquired of Dr. Levis concen1ing the

i .,w.. ,.", C"""~i'"":""'i""'"""""'~,\lW'

176. That ill or about April 1992, the Defendant Neschis traveled to Zurich with Mrs.

!
Gelma, to meet with representatives of Fides and/or Credit Suisse, the asset ma.nagement

,,

proce ures for making changes to the By·Laws of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung. Specifically,

ed whether a letter signed by Mrs. Gelman would be sufficient.

: 79. That on at least two occasions prior to October 1992, the Defendants Neschis,
I

ian, Diamond and others discussed making changes to the By-Laws of the Defendant

Antu 'a Stiftung. That the Defendant Neschis, Defendant Littman and Defendant Diamond
;

Ideci ed upon the changes to be D1ade to the 1991 By·Laws. Specifically, they decided to

incr !..e the share of the Defendant Littman, deer...e the share ofPlaintiff Jnng Family and

inc! de the Defendant Diamond as a three percent (3%) beneficiary,

80. That in addition, the Defendant Neschis decided to eliminate all but one of the

ans' charitable beneficiaries, and instead directed the shares previously allocated to the

ch 'table beneficiaries to the Testamentary Trust.

81. That the only charitable beneficiary to remain a beneficiary after the requested

ch ges would be the Metropolitan Museum of Art.

82. That the Defendant Neschis thereafter fraudulently obtained Mrs. Gelman's

si ature on a letter to the Trustees of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung dated June 5, 1992, which
I

18
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1992, that Mrs. Gelman was no longer mentally competent.

created; and
I

Dr. Levis had concluded, during her meeting with Mrs. Gelman in April

the requested changes were dramatically different from the Gehnans'

intentions during the seven years since the Defendant Anturia Stiftung was

handwriting;

That as a result, Dr. Levis refused to make the requested changes without a

c.

b.

a. Mrs. Gelman had never requested changes other than. in person, in her own

That Dr. Levis had serious misgivings about making the changes to the by-laws

That the Defendant Neschis thereafter transmitted the June 5 1992 letter of

in the written instructions based on the facts that:

That this letter was signed by Mrs. Gelman under duress and after she was no
I

That the Defendant Neschis refused to provide any explanation, and instead
;,

became i gry and threatened to withdraw the Defendant A.nturia Stiftung's funds from Credit

satisfact ry explanation of the unusual circumstances.

instructi ns to Dr. Levis and asked that the requested changes be made.

longer 0 sound mind.

Suisse ank if the changes were not made immediately.

8. That the Defendant Neschis called upon her longstanding family friend,

Dr. Sta helin, who is noW deceased, who was one of the Trustees of the Defendant Antuna

Stiftun ,and asked him to exert his influence to CO:t:lipel Dr. Levis to make the requested

19
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i 89. : That as a result oftrus threat, and Dr: Staehellri's;:rnf1heti~fe;<15t~:UBvnf'~!tO;~I"~I
J';'~":,,,"'r""'11!~,';,:.r,,;~,,~7'\:

or was com lled to, process the requested changes.

90. ! That Fritz Hoehner, a Director of Credit Suisse who had kn.own the Gehnans since

the early 19. D's, learned of the proposed changes to the By-Laws of the Defendant Anturia

Stiftung an became concerned that the substantial increase in the bequest to the Defendant

Littman wa itlConsistent with what he knew to be the Gilmans' prior intentions.

91.. That Mr. Hochner personally traveled to Mexico to meet with Mrs. Gelman,

whom he h d mown for many years, in or about October of 1992 and, after meeting with Mrs.

Gelman, c eluded that she was no longer of sound mind.

92. That Mr. Hoc11l1er telephoned Mrs. Gelman again in December of 1992 while

another Cr dit Suisse employee was presetlt in her home in Mexico. Based on this telephone

conversati nlMr. Boclmer continned his cOl1clusion that the change to the by-laws to leave a

substantia percentage to the Defendant Littman was not Mrs. Gelman's intention.

93 That in or about October 1992, Neschis presented to the Trustees of the Defendant

Anturia S iftung a revised letter dated September 29, 1992 purportedly containing written

,~. .

Antuna.•

s from Mrs. Gelman concerning slightly different amendments to the By-laws of the

That specifically, this letter purported to remove all charitable beneficiaries from

the By-l ,ws, including Plaintiff Jung Family and the Metropolitan Museum of Art, and instead

directed.' 0 the Testamentary Trust the shares previously allocated to the charitable beneficiaries.

That the amendments set forth in the September 29, 1992 letter included:

a. reducing the interest of members of Plaintiff Jung Family in the assets of

the Defendant Anturia Stiftung ft"Q1U approximately thirty-seven (37%)

20
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b. increasing the interest of the Defel1dant Littman in the assets of the

Defendant Anturia Stiftung from approximately one (1 %) percent to

approximately thirty-one (31 %) perc,ent;

c. adding the Defendant Diamond as a beneficiary of approximately three

(3%) percent of the assets of the Defendant Antu1"1.a Stiftung;

d. adding one Rita Sultan Brownstein as a beneficiary of approxim.ately Vl of

1 % of the assets of the Defend'ant Anturia Stiftung; and

e, adding the Testamentary Trust as a beneficiary of approximately fifty-

seven (57%) percent of the assets of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung.

That the Defendant Neschis used her family's longstanding and close relatiol1srup

That thereafter~on or about October 19, 1992) the Trustees ofthe Defendant

100. That Mr. Hoehner and Dr, Levis were summoned to the meeting and were

99. That in or about January of 1993) the Defendant Neschis traveled to Zurich)

Stiftung issued antended By-laws reflecting the changes requested by Nescbis (the

De, dant Dr. Escher~ about Mr. Roehner's and Dr, Levis~s investigation.

Swizerland, with her law partner, Steven Hyman, to complain to Dr. Staohelin and to the

into 5. Gelman~s mental capacity and intentions.

That following the December 1992 telephone conversation between Mr. Hoehner
I

and s. Gelman, the Defendant N.achi' learned ofMr. Hochner's and Dr. Levi,', inveatigation

unla

with r. Slaohelin, then a truslee of the Defendant Anturia Sliftung, to help her accomplish he,

21
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~ .." .. ': '. , , ···.· ·,·" '"·,;,: · .. ,·o.,,:.~· ",.:l~~,~~~,e,I!'ffl •.:\if~.,~.: ..,~~~1 . ... ,

pressured t stop askin,i questions s.bout Mrs. Gel~a~. i~:D~~:Ji!&.rnw~mlllllD!iJm"':""'~'~~:--~·

assets of the Defendant Arlturia. Stiftung frOUl Fides and/or Credit Suisse if J:v1r.

d Dr. Levis did not cease their investigation.

That in fact, the letters referred to above in paragraphs 82 and 93 were signed

under dur 55 and undue influence and at a time when Mrs. Gelman was not of sound mind.

That Plaintiff Jung Family was removed as a beneficiary of the Defendant Antuna

utter disregard of the wishes of Mr. and Mrs. Gelrnan, and solely as a result of the

conduct of the Defendant Neschis, Defendant Littman and Defendant Diamond as

er individuals a11d Defendants named herein, and their undue influence over Mrs.

Gelman.

That the share of the assets of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung intended for

Plaintiff ung Family was substantially eliminated and the same share was diverted to the

ts Uttman and Diamond and to the Testamentary Trust.

That on or about April 23, 1993, Mrs. Gelman purportedly changed her will by

a new Last Will and Testament (the "1993 Will").

That in the 1993 Will, the Defenda11t Neschis was appointed to serve as executor

That the Defendant Diamond and Defendant Littman were each appointed as an

executor. In wills executed prior to 1989, Sidney Cohn had been appointed to serve as

or co-executor.

• 06, That under the tenus ofthe 1993 Will, Mrs. Gelman's closest living blood

relativ S, Miroslav lung, Jaroslav Jung and Mario Sebastian, were each receive a bequest of

22
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I

L08. That the bequests to Plaintiff Jung Family are substantially lower, and the bequest

to Deferant Littman is substantially higher, than bequests in earlier wills executed by Mrs.

Gelmanj
09. That the 1993 Will also provided for the creation of the Jacques and Natasha

Gelm, Trust (the "Testamentary Trust"), to exist in perpetuity, for charitable, literary,

educati nal and other purposes, to be funded by Mrs, Gelman's residuary estate.

110. That the Testamentary Trust was to be administered by the Defendants Neschis

Defendant Diamond as co-trustees, and the Defendant Littman as alternate trustee. The

1993 . ill purported to authorize the Tl1,lstees to spend the income and principal of the

TestaJentary Trust! in their sole discretion, consistent with its purposes.
I

111. That the reduction of the bequests to the Plaintiff Jung Family substantially

increa ed Mrs. Gelman's residuary estate, which was to be placed into the Testamentary Trust,

which was to be controlled by the Defendants Neschis and Diamond,

112. That a similar testamentary trust was first included 111 Mrs. Gelman's will in 1988.

How vet, in the 1993 Will, Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman changed the purposes for

whic the assets of the Testamentary Trust would be used.

I 113. That the 1988 will provide' that the asset, of the tru,t were to "be used for

moot
al

research for Heart Disease, Arthritis, Cancer and for the as'istance of the aged and

infi$.!1

I 114. That this provision remained unchanged in three subsequent wills executed in

198 and 1990. However! the 1993 Will adds: "or (b) for the aid and assistance of artists in the

23
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1 t 5. That the reduction of the bequests to Plaintiff Jung Family substantially increased

l\1rS. Gel~an'S residuary estate, which was to be placed into the Testamental)' Trust. which waS

to be CO+Olled by the Defendant' Ne'chi, and Diamond,

1i6. That the 1993 Will was made after Mrs! Gelman no longer had testamentary

capacity ~d was 110 longer of sound mind.
I

1f7. That Mrs, Gewan was influenced to execute tbe 1993 Will by fraud, dure" and

undue inpuence brought to bear by the Defendants, Littman and Diamond for their personal

I
benefit. I

I
I

1118 . That the Defendants Neschis
l
Littman and Diamond fraudulently obtained their

own ap~ointment as Trustees of the Testamentary Trust for the purpose of obtaining and
I

Th

ating their control over Mrs, Gelman's assets.

Will

,19. That in or about January of 1993, the Defendant Nescllis contacted a Mexican
I

attorneJ to make inquiries about whether the DefenJant Littman could be appointed as a trustee

of the Jelmal1S' Mexican art collection. That Defendant Neschis advised the Mexican attorney

!
that sh~ would come to Mexico to finalize arrangements for the creation ofthe Natasha Gelman

i
Found~tion for this purpose. Papers were prepared in accordance with the Defendant NesclUs'

Idiscus~ions with the Mexican attorney. However, Defendant Neschis thereafter stopped

comm~nicatingwith the Mexican attorney.
I

1120. That on or about March 10, 1992, and again on January 19, 1993, Defendant

I
Littm~ transmitted to Defendant Neschis two of his own proposals for the disposition of the

Gelm~S' Mexican art collection.
I
i
! 24
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I
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1 .1. Tha.t the first proposal would have placed the collection in p~rpetuitywith the

Centro C: ltural/Arte Contempotaneo, the Mexican museWll which then employed Defel1dant

Littman. /That in the second proposal (submitted after the Centro Cultural /.Arte Contemporaneo
I
i

unexpectfdly failed) the collection would be placed in perpetuity with the San Francisco
,

Museun1 ~fModem Art.
i

1*2. That in each such proposal, the Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman were
I
I

each to r~ceive lifetime appointment as mentbers of ap oversight committee with responsibility

to supe~ise the exhibition of the collection.

1123. That the Defendant Neschis rejected the proposals.
I
I

~24. That at all such times, upon infonnation and belief, Defendant Neschis and

Defend~t Littman knew that Mrs. Gelman was, and would have been j unable to agree to the

I

terms o~the disposition of the Mexican art collection by virtue ofher mentally incapacitated

I

conditi~n.
I
I

~25. That the Defendant Neschis contacted a different Mexican la.w finn and arranged

i
I

for the preparation of a new Mexican will for Mrs. Gelman.

i

/126. That on or about August 20, 1993, Mrs. Gelman purportedly executed a new

MexiC~ will.
I

i1127. That pursuant to the tenns of this purported Mexican willj the Gelmans' Mexican
I

art COl~ection was to be bequeathed to Defendant Littman outright, subject only to the conditi011s

that th~ collection be kept together and that it be exhibited in a private museum which was to be

I
select,d by Defendant Littman.

I
I

: 128. That pursuant to the tenns of this purported Mexican will Mrs. Gelman's real

propefty in Mexico was to be sold and the proceeds used to mainta.in the art collection, and to

25

~
~
J
~

I
!

j
i
I.



JUN-18-2010 09:08 AM BOBROWSKY 0000000000 P.26

That on or about October 28, 1994, Mrs. Gelman purportedly executed an

i
~:.:I"'·"I""'.~'C"I·~~'.~'_'~
. .\' ,'" .'"'I' I, """*":··'~~~"~I~·~~~"'i\~'IIJ.i'l'4'~~_,:fi"·""'~'··"V"·I.""""'Im
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pay! equests to two of Mrs. Gelman's household servants. Upon infonnation and belic:lf. ~.~i/i;iJ iM_iiJl~"'ft\tilI4.

Def~ndant Littman continues to live in the house, to this day,
I
I

: 129. That pursuant to the tem1S of the purported Mexican will, Defendant Littman was
I

namtd as executor and Defendant Neschis was named as successor executor, even though, upon

inf0+nation and belief, she has never lived in Mexico.
;

~r Purported Dispositions of Mrs. Gelman's Property
I

I 130.

I

afftdrvit attesting that at the time of her execution of the 1993 Will, it had been her intention that

the Qefendant Neschis should receive a full commission for her services as executor of Mrs.
i I

GelJan's estate, and that the Defendant Neschis's law finn, Leavy Rosensweig & Hyman,
I

recei~e legal fees incurred in connection with administration of the estate.

!
: 131, That this affidavit was executed after Mrs. Gelman had lost testamentary capacity
I

and i,.as no longer of sound mind.
!

i 1:32. That Mrs. Gelman was influenced to execute this affidavit by fraud, duress and
I

und~e influence brought to bear by the Defendant Nescms for the personal benefit of Defendant

Nes~s and her law finn.
I
I

i 133, That under circumstances as yet unknown to the Plaintiff Jung Family, the
i

Defehdant Neschis became the sale trustee of the Waterford Settlement Trust and in that capacity

has t'e and exclu,ive control over ,ubstantia) ""10,mt' of the Gehnans' wealth which i' located

in Efland.

i 134. That among the beneficiaries of the Waterford Settlement Trost are Defendant

LitJan and the Inter Vivos Trust controlled by Defendant Neschis.

135. That on or about November 18, 1997, Mrs. Gelman purportedly executed an

26
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fanned ~y Jacques Gelman with the assistance of Sidney Cohn to receive certain proceeds :trom

Mr. Ge~man's successful film projects) to the Waterford Settlement Trust.

I

1136. That the effect of this assigrtment was to transfer substantial sums of the Gelmans'

money to Defendant Neschis' exclusive control.

1137. That the document which made the assignment to Waterford was purportedly

execut~d more than two years after the conclusion by Mrs. Gelman's neurologist, Dr. Plum, that

she lacked testamentary capacity, as set forth in Paragraphs 61 and 62, supra.

i138. That Mrs. Gelman's signature on the document which purportedly assigned her

Te1em~ntHoldings interests to the Waterford Settlement Trust was fraudulently obtained.

:139. That between December of 1998 and December of 1999, the Inter Vivos Trust

contro~ledby the Defendant Neschis received distributions from the Waterford Settlement Trust

totalink in excess of $11 million. Records of any trflsfers or distributions concerning the

Water{ord Settlement Trust after December of 1999 are presently unavailable to the Plaintiff

Jung ~amily.

Diver~ionof In~ome from Defendant Anturia Stiftune

: 140. That in April 1992 and continuing through 1998, Defendant Neschis caused

subst~tialdistributions to be made from the assets of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung to herself

or for ~er personal benefit.

141. That these distributions were not authorized by Mrs. Gelman and were

fraud~lentlyobtained by the Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman.

142. That by handwritten note dated April 30) 1992, which was purportedly signed by

Mrs. belman, Defendant Neschis directed a representative of Credit Suisse to "arrange for the

27



JUN-18-2010 09:09 AM BOBROWSKY
.. ,., ,

d 1"81' «! 'rfritHfMW ] 'X #riit'" . Or! '&h'K!i:i:bt'ttr¥ Mlr'i:rJi,i' Wi'*Mf :I: "k\\:

0000000000

'b'h ZVPr" ''/L:/,\,Wi.J.14fmLrWMtd,·rtn!,'M 'riIfI'" .,'IW7" It-. t pOK "

P.28

_**""':'2"'%.'18' Mi:IIIIIiiii

i~ediate transfer to my Credit Suisse, New York account of $150,000 (U.S.)" from the

accounts of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung and/or from accounts held for the Gelmans.

143. That in the same note, Defendant Neschis directed Credit Suisse to send all future

interest earned on the Defendant Anturia Stiftung funds, and/or Mrs. Gelman's funds, directly to

Mrs) Gelman's Credit Suisse account in New York.

144. That these instructions were followed by Credit Suisse, and the requested

distrlibutions were made.

145. That available ba.nk records for Mrs. Gelman's account at Credit Suisse New

Yor* reflect at least the following distributions received from Credit Suisse Zurich: $198,000 on

November 30, 1992; $61,100 on January 28 j 1993; $152,500 on March 1, 1993; $154,600 on

Junel1, 1993; $159,400 on August 2, 1993; $245,600 on September 2, 1993; $216,000 on

November 15,1993; $126,000 on February 22,1994; $175,000 on May 27,1994; $175,000 on

July 27,1994; $290,000 on August 30, 1994; $277,000 on November 30,1994; and $272,000 on

Febrltary 28, 1995.

146. That Mrs. Gelman also maintained accounts with various banks in New York,

I

inclukiing the Morgan Bank and the Bank of New York. and in Mexico, with Bancomer, the

recOlxls ofwruch are presently unavailable to Plaintiff Jun.g Family.

147. That other similar distributions were made periodically, records of which are

pres~ntly unavailable to Plaintiff Jung Family. There was over $30 million in the Defendant

AntuHa Stiftung accounts in 1992, and interest payments were ma.de to the Gehnan accounts in

New!York from 1992 to 1998. Interest earned and sent to Mrs. Gelmanls account at Credit

Suisse in New York is believed to be in excess of $10 million.

148. That pursuant to the powers of attorney referred to above and other instruments or
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Littma,tp, had access to the funds in Mrs. Gelman's account at Credit Suisse in New York and

converted said nl11ds to their own use.

'149. That as a result of the provision in the Last Valid By-Laws of the Defendant

Anturi~ Stiftung the Plaintiff Jung Family was given thirty-seven (37%) percent of the assets of

the Defendant Antuna Stiftul1g. That at the time of Mrs. Gelman's death, if the Last Valid By-

Laws had remained in effect, because of the death of one Jung beneficiary, the Plaintiff Jung

Family had a twenty-seven percent (27%) interest in these converted funds.

Crea~on of IDter VivQs Trust and The 1998 Amendment to By-Laws

I

150. That on or about November] 8, 1997, the Defendant Nescrus, Defendant Littman

and t~e Defendant Diamond fraudulently caused Mrs. Gelman to execute a trust instrument

purpdrting to create the Jacques and Natasha Gelman Trust (the "Inter Vivos Trust").

t 151. That the Defendant Neschis and Defendant Diamond were named as a co-trustees

oftht Inter Vivos Trust. In addition to conunissions, the Trustees are authorized to perfonn

profdssional services for the Inter Vivos Trust at their regular rates. The Trustees are also

exprbssly authorized to arbitrate and settle claims on behalf of the Inter Vivos Trust. The

Trus~ees are expressly excused from filing inventories and periodic aocountings in any court.

The iTrustees may spend the trust assets "in their sole and absolute discretion" "for use

excLUsively within the United States for religiou~, charitable, scientific, literary or educational

purPoses or for the preventiol1 of cruelty to children or animals."

152. That this provision is substantially different from the provision creating a

charitable testamentary trust in Mrs. Gelman's wills prior to 1993.

153. That as a result ofthese provisions, there is no one likely to challenge the
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administration of the Inter Vivos Trust. The New York Surrogate's Court would not ordinarily

assel1l jurisdictiOll over an inter vivos trust in connection with administration of the estate, and

has in fact declined to do so with respect to the Inter Vivos Trust.

154. That the above-referenced trust instrument is not properly verified.

155. That Mrs. Gelman's execution of the instrument was purportedly witnessed by the

Defendant Neschis and a witness whose signature is utterly illegible. That the witness whose

signrtture is illegible is believed to be Defendant Littman.

l56. That the illegible signature is not verified. Mrs. Gelman's signature is not verified

by tije notary public,

157. That instead, the notary public attests, with respect to Mrs. Gelman's signature,

ol11ylthat the Defendant Neschis came before him and that Defendant Neschis stated to him that

Defendant Neschis saw Mrs. Gelma.n execute the instrument.

158. That according to the Defendant Neschis, the trust instrument was executed by

Mrsj Gelman in Mexico~ on November 18, 1997. That Defendant N eschis has contended that she

was iin Mexico on November 18, 1997 to witness the execution. That Defendant Neschis further

con~ended that she traveled back to the United States from Curenavaca, Mexico, on that same

NO\Aember 18, 1997, and that she appeared before the notary public on November 18, 1997 to

verify her signature as a witness, and to provide the highly irregular verification of:Mrs.

Geltnan I s signature provided above.

159. That both the trust instrument and the verifications, are silent with respect to the

fad that the instnunent was signed in Mexico.

160, That in truth and in fact, Defendant Neschis did not actually witness Mrs.

Gellman's signature in Mexico and return to New York to appear before a notary public on that
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same day. Rather, the trust instrument was falsely and fraudulently crea.ted by Defendat'1t '.

Neschis, Defendant Littm.an and Defendant Diamond, the alleged witnessing of:Mrs, Gelman's

execution of the trust was false t and Mrs. Gelman's alleged signature was fraudulently procured,

all in fUrtherance ofthe fraudulent scheme of the Defendant Neschis, Defendant Littman and

Defendant Diamond.
,

161. That if Mrs. Gelman signed this document, it was signed under duress and undue

influence and at a time when. Mrs. Gelman was not of sound mind.

162. That the document was purportedly executed more than two years after Dr.

Plwu'si conclusion in March 1995 that :tvfrs. Gelman "lacks testamentary mental capacity," as

described above,

163. That Mrs. Gelman's signature on the trust instrument was fraudulently procured,

and thli Defendant Neschis' and Defendant Littman's execution of the docmnent as witnesses of

Mrs. delman's signature was false and fraudulent.

164, That on or about November 18, 1997, the Defendant Neschis fraudulently caused

Mrs. Gelman to sign a letter sent by Defendant Ne~chis to the Defendant Antuna Stiftung

requesting additional changes to the by-laws. The letter requested that the Inter Vivos Trust be

substituted for the Testamentary Trust as the beneficiary of fifty-seven (57%) percent of the

assets10fthe Defendant Antuna Stiftung.

165, That Defendant Littman observed the alleged execution, by Mrs. Gelmant of the

Inter Vives Trust at a time when he knew that she no longer possessed the testamentroy capacity

to do Iso.

166. That the letter also advised the Defendant Anturia Stiftung that Elizabeth Jung

had d.ied! and thus that, pursuant to the terms of the by-laws, her one (1 %) percent share should
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amended on January 27, 1998 (the "January 27,1998 By-Laws"). Under the January 27, 1998

By-Laws, the Inter Vivos Trust was entitled to receive fifty-eight (58%) percent of the assets of

the Defendant Anturia Stiftung.

167. That if Mrs. Gelman signed the letter referred to above in paragraph 106, it was

signed: under duress and undue influence and at a time when Mrs. Gelman was not of sound

mind.

168. That as a result of the letter referred to above in paragraph 106, in January 1998
I

the tW!enty-seven (27%) percent share of the assets of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung originally

intended for Plaintiff Jung Family was wrongfully transferred to the Inter Vivos Trust for the

personal benefit of the Trustees oithe Inter Vivos Trust.

Defengants' Condust After Mrs. Gelmap's Death,

169. That Mrs. Gelman died on May 2, 1998, at the age of 86.

170. That the 1993 Will was offered for probate by Defendant Neschis in May 1998.

ThatlDefendant Neschis qualified to serve as executor of the Estate of Natasha Gelman and is

presently serving in that capacity. Proceedings relating to administration of the Estate ofNatasha

Gehnan are ongoing in the SUrrogate's Court, New York County. Because the assets of the

Defendant Antuda Stiftung are not part afMrs. Qelman's New York probate estate; Plaintiff

Jung Family's claims herein are not pending before, and will not be adjudicated by, the

Surrogate's Court, New York County.

171. That soon after 11rs. Gelman's death in 1998~ the Defendant Anturia Stiftung

approved a payment of $500,000 to the Inter Vivos Trust.

172. That on or about July 16, 1999, the Defendants Neschis and Diamond commenced
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Antulria Stiftung, seeking an award compelling the trustees to make payment of 58% of the

Defendant Antuna Stiftung assets to the Inter Vivos Trust in accordance with the provisions of

the ]anual"j' 27, 1998 By-Laws.

173. That members of the Jung family were joined in the proceedings as third party

interiVenors.

174. That a hearing was held and by decision dated June 8, 2001, the arbitration panel

concluded that the assets of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung should be distributed in accordance

with!the January 27, 1998 By~Laws.

175. That on or about November 9, 2001, the Inter Vivos Trust received $21,030,000
I

from-the Defendant Antuna Stiftung assets in accordance with the January 27,1998 By-Laws.

176. That on or about November 9,2001, Defendant Littman personally received

$11,140,000 from the Defendant Anturia Stiftung's assets in accordance with the January 27,

1998 By~Laws.

177. That on or about November 9,2001, the Defendant Diamond personally received

$1,100,000 from the Defendant Anturia Stiftung's assets in accordance with the January 27, 1998

178. That since that time Defendant Neschis, in her capacity as trustee of the Inter

Vivos Trust, has used and expended trust assets in her absolute discretion, including to pay

attorneys fees in this and other proceedings, and to pay herself trustee's commissions.

179. That duling the fiscal year ending on November 30, 1999, Defendant Neschis

caused the Inter Vivos Trust to pay $217,350 in legal fees and expenses, including the sum of

$29,572 to McLaughlin & Stem, LLP, the firm where she is now a partner, $15,223 to Marxer &

33



JUN-18-2010 09:12 AM BOBROWSKY

~'''''''''.

0000000000 P.34

Diamond in the Liechtenstein arbitration and provided a foreign law affidavit in the proceedings

and S172,555 to an erltity known as Denmur Treu IBond und Verwaltungs-Anstalt, whose role is

not currently known to Plaintiff.

180, That during the fiscal year ending on November 30, 2000, Defendant Neschis

causd:d the Inter Vivos Trust to pay a total of $296,768 in legal fees and expenses, including the

sum bf$216,403 to McLaughlin & Stem, LLP, the fim1 where she is now a partner; $15,000 to

Kaye Scholer, Fierman Hays & Handler LLP, (the finn that represents the Defendants Neschis

and Diamond in these proceedings $40,416 to Marxer & Partner; $15,806 to Weit Gotshal &

Manges (which supplied an affidavit conceming U.S. law for submission in the Liechtenstein

arbittation on behalf of Defendant Neschis and Defendant Diamond and $9,143 to Dr. H.L.

Bernard Vischer, whose role is not presently known to the Plaintiff.

I
181. That during the fiscal year ending on November 30,2000, Defendal1t Neschis

caused the Inter Vivos Trust to make the following charitable gifts: $110,000 to the Museo del

Barrio "to preserve the cultural heritage of Puerto Ricans"; $36~OOO to the Art Student's Leagues

of New York "to provide education for artists;" and $43,360 to the Pratt Institute '"to provide

education for artists."

182. These gifts, which were made in the sale and exclusive discretion of Defendant

Neschis, are not in accordance with the criteria expressed by Mrs. Gelman for the charitable

testamentary trust created in her wills prior to 1993, but rather in aCCOrda11Ce with the neW

crittilria inserted by Defendant Neschis into Mrs. Gelman's will and the Inter Vivos Trost after

Mrs. Gelman was no longer of sound mind.

183. Although a.dditional information is not available to the Plaintiff Jung Family at
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this time, it is believed that Defendant Neschis has continued, and continues to the present day, .

to pay her substantial1egal fees and expenses, as well as substantial commissions from the Inter

Vivos Trust.

Defendant Neschis' Similar Fraudulent Conduct

in Connection with other C;Uents.

184. Defendant Neschis has engaged inl similar fraudulent conduct against other fanner

cliertts of her father, Defendant Cohen. In particular, Defendant Neschis has been accused of

altemng document, converting fUl1ds to her personal use and bel1efit and refusing to tum over

amdunts rightfully belonging to her clients,

185. Evelyn Wil1iams~Jones, the widow of film producer Carl Foreman, represented by

Prosckauer Rose LLP sued Defendant Neschis for the return of shares of stock in Highroad

Productions, a corporation fanned by Foreman to receive revenues from his films. Mr. Foreman

has give Cohn his longtime attorney a 25% interest in Highroad Productions. Cohen held the

remaining 75% in trust for Mr. Foreman. The shares representing Mr. Foreman's 75% interest in

Highroad remained in Cohn's possession for safekeeping. Mr. Foreman died in 1984 leaving his

75% interest in Highroad to Ms. William~Jones.' After Calm's death in 1991 Defendant Neschis

took over the management of Highroad in place of her father. Ms. William-Jones wrote to

Defendant Neschis asking her to turn over the 75% interest in Highroad. Defendant Neschis

c~aimed ownership of the shares and refused to relinquish them falsely taking the position that

Mr. Foreman had made a gift of the share to Colm. Ms. Williams-Jones sued Defendant Neschis

and the executors of Cohn's estate for return of the shares, The action was ultimately settled in

Ms. Williams·Jo11es' favor, However, before agreeing to the settlement Defendant Neschis

dxtracted a peculiar concession from Ms. Williams-Jones that "Janet C, Neschis should not have
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186. The Estate of Cantinflas l the Mexican film star who collaborated with Jacques

Gelman, has alleged that Defendant Neschis engineered a scheme to deprive the Cantinflas

Estat~ of its rightful share of the profits of Cantinflas films, and steered those assets to the

Gelman Estate (Controlled by Neschis). Cantin:t1as and Mr. Gelman shared revenues from

certain films through offshore entities created by ColU1~ including Telemont Anstalt, a

Liecmtcnstein trust entity, to which they conveyed the rights to a number ofCa.l1tinflas films.
I

Telellnont was owned 65% by Cantinflas and 35% by Gelman. The Estate of Cantinf1as has

al1eged that Defendant Neschis fraudulently obtained Mrs. Gelman's signature on documents

dated November 18, 1997 assigning assets held by Telemont to aliother offshore entity, the

Waterford trust, controlled by the Gelmans (and now controlled by the Defendant Neschis as

executor of Mrs. Gelmanls Estate).

187. With respect to each of these situations, Defendant Neschis is alleged to have

engineered suspicious document changes and misappropriated client assets for her own personal

benCbfit. In each easel Defendant Neschis fraudulent actions took pla.ce after the death or

disability of the principals to the transactions. Defendant Neschis succession to her fatherls

position as counsel for these longtime clients leaving Defendant Neschis with unfettered access
I

to her client's assets. Indeed the fraudulent documents alleged to have been created by

Defendant Neschis in connection with Telemont Anstalt were dated the same day as the

fraudulent instrument purportedly creating the Inter Vivos Trust, and the fraudulent "letter of

ins'tructionsll to the Defendant Antuna Stiftung trustees requesting that the Inter Vivos Trust be

substituted as a primary beneficiary.
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(Declaratory ReliefAiainst All Defendants)'

188. That the Plaintiff lung Family repeats, reiterates and realleges each and every

allegation as contained in paragraphs H 1~ 187" as though more fully set forth at length herein.

189. The October 19, 1992 By-Laws and the January 27,1998 By-Laws of the

Defendant Anturia Stiftung were wrongfully procured by Defendant Neschis, Defendant Littman

Defendant Diamond, the Defendant Anturia Trustees, and others, by fraud, duress and llildue

influence brought to bear on Mrs. Gelman after Mrs. Gelman was no longer of sound mind.
,

Defbndauts' actions were not authorized by Mrs. Gelman and were designed to divert Mrs.

Gelman's assets to the benefit of Defendants and ,away from her legitimate beneficiaries.

190. That upon information and belief, the Defendant Anturia Stiftung) acting through

its Officers and/or Directors and/or Agents) including but not limited to Defendant Dr. Escher,

Defendant Dr. Sprenger and Defendant Dr. Schulthess knew and had reason to know that the

purported October 19, 1992 By-Laws and the purported January 27,1998 by-laws had been

wrongfully procured by Defendant Neschis, Defendant Littman and others by fraud, duress and

undue influence brought to bear on Mrs. Gelman afer she was no longer of sound mind.

191. That notwithstanding the foregoing, for reasons as yet unknown to the Plaintiffs

herein) the Defendant Anturia Stiftung facilitated the adoption of the purported October 19, 1992

By-laws, and the purported January 27, 1998 by-laws, and further caused and facilitated the

transfer of funds to Defendant Neschis and Defdndant Littman and others, in furtherance of their

fraudulent scheme to defraud.

192. The Inter Vivos Trust has wrongfully claimed a right to receive fifty-eight (58%)

percent of the assets of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung in accordance with the January 27, 1998
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with the January 27, 1998 By-Laws, Plaintiff Jung Family will be deprived of its rightful interest

in tht assets of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung. Accordingly, a justiciable controversy is

presented.

193. By reason of the foregoing, as well as other acts yet to be uncovered, Plaintiff

Jung Family is entitled to a declaration that: a) Plaintiff lung Family is entitled to receive a

collective distribution of twenty-seven (27%) percent of the assets, wherever located, of the

Defendant Antuna Stiftung, and b) no Defendant may distribute, remove or disburse any assets

received from the Defendant .l\.nturia Stiftung prior to Plaintiff Jung Family receiving its rightful

share of twenty-seven (27%) percent of the assets in the Defendant Anturia StiftW1g at the time

ofMrs. Gelman's death.

COUNT II
C'oDversiQD Against Defendants Neschis and Llttman)

194. That the Plaintiff lung Family repeats, reiterates and realleges each and every

allegation as contained in paragraphs 011 ~193'1 as though more fully set forth at length herein.

195. The Last Valid By-Laws, together with the Defendant Anturia Stiftung's Charter

and all express and implied understandings between the Gelmans and the Defendant Anturia

Stiftung's andJor Fides, constituted a valid, enforceable contract between the Gelrnans and the

Defbndant Anturia Stiftung's, and/or Fides concerning the disposition of the assets of the

Defendant Anturia Stiftl.U1g,

196. The October 19, 1992 By~Laws and all subsequent by-laws were executed as a

result of fraud~ duress and undue influence and do not constitute a valid or enforceable contract.

197. The October 19, 1992 By-Laws and all subsequent by-laws did not validly revoke
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198. Plaintiff lung Family is a third-party beneficiary ofthe contract comprised of the

Last Valid By~Laws and the Charter l and/or all understandings and assurances provided to the

Gelmans, pursuant to which Plaintiff .Tung Family is entitled to distribution of not less than

twenty-seven (27%) percent of the assets of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung upon Mrs. Gelmanls

death. Accordingly, the contract comprised of the Last Valid By-Laws, the Charter and/or all

understandings and assurances provided to the Ge1mans gave Plaintiff Jung Family a valid and

enforceable interest in not less than twenty-seven (27%) percent of the assets of the Defendant

Anturia Stiftung.

199. That the Defenda.nts Neschis, Littman and Diamond improperly converted

Plaintiff Jung Family's interest in the assets of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung for the benefit of

Defendants by causing the execution of the October 19, 1992 By-Laws and the January 1998 By-

Laws.
I

200. In additiol1, the Defenda.nt Nescrus and Defendant Littman improperly converted

the amounts of interest earned on the Defendant Anturia Stiftung's assets that they fraudUlently

transferred to the Credit Suisse account in New York to which they had access.

201. As a result of the wrongful conduct of Defendants Neschis, Littman and Diamond

set forth herein, as well as other acts yet to be uncovered l Plaintiff Jung Family has been

deprived of its rightful interest in not less than twenty~seven(27%) percent in the full and

undepleted assets ofthe Defendant Anturia Stiftung under the temlS of the Last Valid By-Laws.

Acc<DrdinglYl Plaintiff .Tung Family has been damaged in the amount of funds improperly

converted, which is not less thatl $21 million.
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COUNT III
(CQPnrsiou Aiainst Defendant Anturia Stiftuni)

202. That the Plaintiff Jung Family repeats and reiterates each and every allegation

contained in Paragraphs "1-201 '1 as though more fully set forth at length herein.

203, That upon infonnation and belief, and at all times hereinafter mentioned, the

Defendant Antuna Stiftung knew, and had reason to know, that it was without authority to

distribute the assets of the Defendant .A.nturia Stiftung pursuant to the provisions of the plU-ported

I

October 19,1992 By-Laws and the purported January 27, 1998 by laws, because said by~laws

had been purportedly changed by Mrs. Gelman when she was no longer of sound mind and

therefore no longer capable of changing, directing or causing or agreeing to any such changes in

the by-laws of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung at any time after 1991.

204. That despite such knowledge, the Defendant Antuna Stiftung transferred funds; as

set fbrth above, with the intention that, by doing so it would benefit Defendants Neschis,

Littman and Diamond, as well as deprive the Plaintiff lung Family ofproperty, to wit money,

that was the rightful property of the Plaintiff .Tung Family.

205. That the Defendant Anturia Stiftung knew and had reason to know that the

Plaintiff Jung Family was the legal owner of such property, to wit money, and/or that it had a
I

right to such property superior to that ofDefendants Neschis, Littman and Diamond.

206. That in additi011, the Defendant Anturia Stjftung aided and facilitated Defendant

Neschis and Defendant Littman improperly to convert the amounts of interest earned on the

Defendant Antuna Stiftung assets that they fraudulently caused the Defendant Anturia Stiftung to

transfer to the Credit Suisse account in New York to which Defendant Neschis and Defendant

Littman had access,
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That by virtue of the foregoing, the Defendant Antuna Stiftung deprived the .,~.

Plaintiff Jung Family of such property, to wit money, and/or interfered with the Plaintiff Jung

Family's expectations with regard to such property, despite the fact that it had no authority to do

so.

208, That as a result of the wrongful conduct of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung set

forth above, as well as other acts yet to be uncovered, Plaintiff Jung Family ha.s been deprived of

its rightful interest in not less than twenty-seven (27%) percent in the full and undepleted assets

of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung under the terms of the Last Valid By-Laws. Accordingly,

Plaintiff Jung Family has been damaged in the amount of funds improperly converted; which is
I

not less than $21 million.

COUNT IV
(Tortious Interference With Contra.ctual Relations

Aaalnst Defendants Neschis and Littman)

209. That the Plaintiff JU11g Family repeats, reiterates and realleges each and every

allegation as contained in paragraphs HI_20gll as though more fully set forth at length herein.

210. That the Last Valid By-Laws, together with the Defendant Anturia Stiftung

Charter and all express and implied understandings between the Gelmans and the Defendant

Antuna Stiftung, constituted a valid, enforceable contract between the Gelmans and the

Defendant Anturia Stiftung and/or Fides.

211. That the Plaintiff Jung Family was a third-party beneficiary of the contract

comprised of the Last Valid By-Laws, Charter and all understandings and assurances provided to

the Gelmans pursuant to which the Plaintiff Jung Family is to receive not less than thirty seven

percent (27%) of the assets of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung.

212. That at all relevant times, Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman were aware
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of the existence and provisions of the Last Valid By-Laws. Specifically, Defendant Neschis and

I

Defendant Littman were aware of the fact that under the Last Valid By-Laws, Plaintiff Jung

Family was entitled to receive not less than tvventy-seven (27%) percent of the assets of the

Defendant Anturia Stiftung.

213. That Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman intentionally and wrongfully

procured and effected the elimination of the Last Valid By-Laws and Plaintiff Jung Family's

rights thereunder by fraudulently obtaining the execution of the October 19, 1992 By-Laws

and/or the January 21, 1998 By~Laws ..

214. In addition~ Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman improperly converted the

amounts of interest eatned on the Defendant Antuna Stiftung assets that they fraudulently

transferred to the Credit Suisse account in NewjYork to which they had access.

215. As a result of the wrongfUl conduct of Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman,

as well as other acts yet to be uncQvered, Plaintiff Jung Family has been deprived of its rightful

interest in not less than twenty-seven (27%) percent of the :full and undepleted assots of the

Defendant Antuna Stiftung under the terms of the Last Valid By-Laws. Accordingly, Plaintiff

Jung Family has been damaged in the amount ofnot less than twenty-seven (27%) percent of the

funds improperly diverted plus interest. which is not less that $21 million,

COUNT V

(Unjust EnrJcbment Against Defendants

LSeschis. Littrnag and Diamond)

216. That the Plaintiff Jung Family repeats, reiterates and realleges each and every

allegation as contained in paragraphs "1-215~' as though more fully set forth at length herein.

217. The Last Valid By-Laws. together with the Defendant Anturia Stiftung's Charter

and all express' and implied understandings between the Gelmans and the Defendant Anturia
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to bequeath to the Plaintiff Jung Family thirty-seven percent (37%) of the assets of the Defendant

Anturia Stiftung.

218. At all relevant times, the Defendants Neschis, Littman and Diamond were aware

of the existence and provisions of the Last Valid ~y-Laws, SpecificallYl the Defendants Neschis

Littman and Diamond were aware of the fact that under the Last Valid By-Laws, Plaintiff Jung

Farni1y was entitled to receive not less than twenty-seven (27%) percent of the assets of the

Defendant Anturia Stiftung at the time oOv1rs. Gelman's death.

219. That the Defendants Nescrus, Littman and Diam.ond intentionally and wrongftl1ly

procured and effected the elimination afthe Last Valid By-Laws and Plaintiff Jung Farnilyls

rights thereunder by fraudulently obtaining the execution of the October 19~ 1992 By~Laws.

220. That the Defendants Neschis, Littman and Diamond therefore prevented Mrs.

Gelman from providing far the Plaintiff Jlli1g Family in her will as set forth above under the Last

Valid By-Laws because Mrs. Gelman became incompetent after the execution of the Last Valid

221. In addition, Defendant Nesc11is and Defendant Littman improperly converted the

amounts of interest earned on the Defendant Anturia Stiftung assets that they fraudulently

transferred to the Credit Suisse account in New York to which they had access.

222. As a result of the wrongful conduct of Defendants Neschis, Littman and Diamond,

PlaintiffJung Family has been deprived of its rightful interest in not less than twenty-seVe1!

(27%) percent of the full and undepleted assets of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung under the telTIlS

of the Last Valid By-Laws.

223. That by virtue of the foregoing" Defendants Neschis, Littman and Diamond have
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been unjustly enriched in an amount of not less than twenty-seven (27%) percent of the ftmds .

improperly diverted plus interest, which is not less than $21 million.

COUNTS VI AND VII
(Allegations Common To Rico Counts

A~ainstDefegdants Neschis and Littman)

224. That the Plaintiff lung Family repeats, reiterates and realleges each and every

allegation as contained in paragraphs"1-223" as though more fully set forth at length herein.

125. As set forth herein, Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman engaged in a

scheme to defraud Mrs. Gelman designed to gain control over her substantial wealth and to divert

her money and propeliy to their personal use and benefit. Mrs. Gelman was vulnerable to the
I

Defendants' scheme because she had no close family members living with her to prqtect her

interests and supervise her affairs as her mental condition deteriorated. Moreover, as Defendant

Neschis and Defendant Littl11an understood, :Mrs. Gelman had no direct descendants expecting to

inherit her large estate, and it was unlikely that the charitable institutions to which she had left

large bequests would ever discover Defendants' fraudulent acts.

226. That beginning in 1990 or 1991, Defendant N eschis, Defendant Littman and

others took advantage of Mrs. Gelman's declining mental condition by deceiving Mrs. Gelman

into"believing that they would protect her interests, and thereby falsely earned her trust and

confidence.

227. In furtherance of the fraudulent screme, Defendant Neschis, Mrs. Cehnan's

attorney, and Defendant Littman, Mrs. Gelman's close personal companion, assumed control

over Mrs. Gelman's financial affairs, including her estate plan and the Defendant Anturia

Stiftung, without her permission, and created fraudulent docwnents purporting to carry out Mrs.

Gelman's intent but which actually furthered the fraudulent scheme.
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Essential to the scheme was Defendants' agreement to conceal from everyone'

other than the participants in the scheme the truth about Mrs. Gelman's lack of mental capacity,

and to exclude all others from Mrs. Gelman's innltr circle.

229. Through their acts of fraud and concealment, as well as other acts yet to be

lli1covered, Defendm1t Neschis and Defendant Littman became Mrs. Gelman's principal advisors

and caretakers, and thereby cemented themselves as the primary custodiam of Mrs. Gelman's

worldwide assets for the purpose of convetiing those assets to their personal use and benefit.

230. That at various times Defendant Littman, knowing that Mrs. Gelman was no

longer physically or mentally competent to travel alone, or othenvise to manage her own affairs,

arranged for Mrs. Gelmal1 to travel to other locations, and accompanied her on such travels, in

order for her to execute documents and engage in other transactions in furtherance of the

fraudulent scheme ofDefendant Neschis and Defendant Littman.

Person

231. The Defendant Neschis, Defendant Littman, the Inter Vivos Trust and the

Testamentary Trust are each a "person" as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1961(3) because each is an

entity capable of holding legal and/or beneficial interest in property.

Enterprise

232. At all times relevant herein, Defendants operated an "enterprise" within the

meaning of 18 U.S.c. § 1961(4) comprised of Mrs. Gelman's identity and estate, both before and

after her death, inclUding her interest in and rights to direct the disposition of the assets of the

Defendant Anturia Stiftung, her interests in and right to direct the trusts purportedly created by

Mrs. Gelman, and, after May 1998, her probate estate.
I
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Tne EnterRrlse Perigd

233. The Enterprise Period began in 1990 or 1991 when Defendant Neschis and/or

Defendant Littman gained control over Mrs. Gelman's identity and affairs, and continued after

Nescms and/or Littman gained control over Jvfrs. Gelman's probate estate and trusts, and

continues to the present day.

234. Moreover, in order to further the interests of the Enterprise, the Defendants will

continue to engage in and commit acts of Racketq:erh1g Activity into the future.

Pgttern of Racketeerina Activity

235, The acts described in the preceding paragraphs C011stitute '~attem of racketeering

activity" as that tenn is defined in 18 § 1961 (1), (5). Specifically, on numel'OUS occasions,

Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman took advantage of Mrs. Gelman's lack afmental

capacity to obtain the fraudulent execution of documents, including letters of instructions, a will,

powers of attorney and a trust instrument, without authority from Mrs. Gelman, that were

designed to change Mrs. Gelman's estate plan and divert her assets to Defendants' own benefit

and to deprive her legitimate beneficiaries of their intended shares ofMrs. Gelman's assets upon

her death.

236. The scheme alleged herein includes the fraudulent manipulation ofvirtually every

aspect ofl\1rs. Gelman's finances from 1992 until her death in 1998. Among other things, the

Defendants altered her New York will, her Mexican will, the dispositive provisions to the

Anturia her plans for her Mexican art collection, her interests in entities formed by her late

husband to receive substantial royalties from his films, and created new inter vivos trust to

circumvent the testamentary trust that had been included in Mrs. Gelman's wills since at least

1986.
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237. Each and every one of these manipplations was effected through the creation of

false and fraudulent documents purportedly signed by Mrs. Gelman and passed offby Defendant

Neschis and Littman as the true wishes and intentions of Mrs. Gelman. Each and every one of

these manipulations substantially benefitted Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman and

ultimately diverted virtually all of Mrs. Gelman's substantial wealth originally located around the

world to the control of these Defendants.

238, The acts described in the preceding paragraphs pose a threat of continued criminal

activity. Specifically, Defendant Neschis continues to practice law in the State ofNew York on

behalf of clients seeking advice and representation in connection with estate planning. Many of

these clients had been clients of her late father, Sidney Cohn, Esq., and fOT that reason place their

trust and confidence in Defendant Neschis, That IDefendant Neschis has demonstrated a pattern

of manipulating her clients' assets for her own benefit through the use of false and fraudulent

documents prepared by her.

239, In a.ddition. as set forth above, Defendant Nescms continues to the present day to

expend the assets of the Inter Vivos Trust for her own personal benefit.

240. In addition, the Defendants will cbntinue to transfer stolen property across State

Lines and National Borders in the future, in furtherance of their scheme.

241. Each of these acts was committed, and/or will be committed by Defendant

Neschis and/or Defendant Littmant a.nd had similar results, injuring numerous separate victims,

including Plaintiff Jung Family, and thus constituted a "pattern of racketeering activity,"

Fordan Commerce

242. In carrying out their scheme to defraud, Defendants engaged in monetary and

commercial transactions that took place in New York, Switzerland, Liechtenstein and Mexico,
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and which affect assets in those countries as well as assets in the United Kingdom.

243, Moreover, in continuing to carry out their scheme to defraud
l

the Defendants will

continue to engage in monetary and commercial transactions which will take place in New York,

Switzerland, Liechtenstein and Mexico.

fredfcate Act~

I
Mall Fraud and Wire Fraud (18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 1343)

244. For the purpose of executing or attempting to execute the aforesaid schemes end

artifices to defraud, throughout the Enterprise Period and as alleged more fully above)

Defendants committed acts of mail fraud by causing numerous separate letters and other

documents to be delivered, via the United States mails, and acts of wire fraud by causing

interstate wire conununications to be transmitted between New York, Switzerland, Liechtenstein,

Mexico and elsewhere, in violation of 18 U.S.C. .§§ 1341 and 1343, including but not limited to

the following:

245. On or about March lOt 1992, Defendant Littman transmitted by fax from Mexico

to Defendant Neschis in New York a document setting forth a proposal for the disposition of
I

Mrs. Gelrnanls Mexican Art collection, including the lifetime appointment of Defendant Littman

and Defendant Neschis as members of an oversight committee with responsibility to supervise

the exhibition of the collection. The proposal did not reflect Mrs. Gelman's wishes or intentions

but in.stead reflected the Defendant Littman's own intentions and his participation with

Defendant Neschis in the fraudulent scheme to gain control of Mrs. Gelmants assets t including

the Mexican art collection.

246. On or about March 26, 1992, Defendant Littman transmitted by fax from Mexico

to Defendant Neschis in New York a list of the works of art comprising Mrs. Gelman's Mexican
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art collection. This document was prepared and transmitted in furtherallCe of the fraudulent

scheme to gain control of Mrs. Gelman's assets l including the Mexican art collection.

247. On or about April 15, 1992! Defendant Neschis transmitted via the United States

mails from New York to Switzerland a letter to Dr, Staehelin which was purportedly signed by

Mrs. Gelman fraudulently authorizing the trustees of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung to release to

Defendant Neschis "all documents and records pertaining to the Defendant Antuda Stiftung

Foundation Limag Trust controlled by Fides, including but not limited to the trust instrument and

all financial records peliaining to the tmst." The letter went on to authorize the trustees "to

discuss with her all matters pertaining to the trust. H

248. On Or about April 21, 1992, Defendant Littman telephoned from Mexico to an

attorney named Richard Dunlap ill Los Angeles, California, to request financial records relating

to Mrs. Gelman's interests in companies holding her late husband's interests in the films he had

produced during his lifetime. That Defendant Littman sought these records for the purpose of

discovering and taking control of, Mrs. Gelman's interests in those entities.

249. On or about April 30, 1992, Defendant Nescms transmitted via the United States

mails from New York to Switzerland a letter of instructions to Credit Suisse, Zurich purportedly

authorized by Mrs. Gelman that fraudulently directed Credit Suisse to pay all interest earned on

the Defendant Anturia Stiftung and other acco~nts of Mrs. Gelman directly to an account in :Mrs.

Gelman's name at Credit Suisse In New York, which was controlled by Defendant Neschis. In

response to the fraudulent letter of instructions l Credit Suisse thereafter distributed interest from

the Defendant Anturia Stiftung and other accounts directly to Defendant Neschis' control. Each

distribution of interest was made by wire transmission from Switzerland to New York,

250. On or about May 18, 1992, Defendant Littman transmitted by fax from Mexico to
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Defendant Neschis in New York an affidavit purportedly signed by Mrs. Gelman in connection

with certain litigation that had been commenced against Mrs. Gelman and others in the Superior

Court ofthe State of California, County of Los Angeles, relating to her late husband's interests in

films he had produced during his lifetime. The affidavit was signed by Mrs. Gelman after she

was no 1011ger of sound mind, and was prepared by Defendant Neschis in furtherance of the

fraudulent scheme to consolidate control Over Mrs. Gelman's assets.

251. On or about September 29, 1992, Defendant Neschis transmitted via the United

States tn.ails a letter of instructions to the trustees of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung purportedly

authorized by Mrs. Gelman that fraudulently instructed the trustees of the Defendant Anturia

Stiftung to amend the by-laws to include the Testamentary Trust as a beneficiary of fifty-seven

(57%) percent ofthe trust assets j and to eliminate Plaintiff Jung Family as a beneficiary and

deprive it of its rightful interest in not less than twenty-seven (27%) percent ofthe trust assets,

I

252. On or about October 9 j 1992, Defendant Neschis communicated by telephone

with an official of Credit Suisse in New York and confIrmed by letter transmitted by telecopier

the same day, falsely stating that "Mrs. Gelman has asked me to instruct Credit Suisse to transfer

the sum 0[$20,000 to [the account of Aldford Holdings Limited at) Morgan Guaranty." In

accordance with these false instructions, the Sum of $20,000 was thereby transferred to

Defendant Neschis l control.

253, On or about December 17 j 1992, Defendant Littman transmitted via the United

Sta.tes mails from Mexico to Defendant Neschis in New York a "conected page of this false

memorandum and a letter of instructions purportedly presented to Mrs. Gelman for signature by

the Credit Suisse representative.

254.

I

On or about January 19, 1993, Defendant Littman transmitted by fax frpm Mexico
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to Defendant Neschis in New York a document setting forth an alternate proposal for the

disposition of Mrs. Gelman's Mexican art collection, including the lifetime appointment of

Defendant Littman and Defendant Neschis as members of an oversight committee with

responsibility to supervise the exhibition of the collection. The proposal did not reflect Mrs.

Gelman's wishes or intentions but instead reflected Defendant Littman's own intentions, and his

. I

participation with Defendant Neschis in the fraudulent scheme to gain control of Mrs. Gelman's

assets, including the Mexican art collection,

255. On or about January 25, 1993, Defendant Neschis conununicated by telephone

from New York with Juan Pablo de la Calle P, in Mexico to inquire about the possibility of

appointing Defendant Littman as trustee to hold the Gelman's Mexican Art collection. That

Defendant Neschis specifically inquired whether Defendant Littman would be permitted to serve

as trustee in light of the fact that he was not a Mexican citizen. This communication was made in

furtherance ofthe fraudulent scheme to gain control over Mrs, Gelman's assets.

256. On or about April 19, 1993, Defendant Neschis transmitted by United States mails

to attorneys in Guernsey, c.r., a proxy purportedly signed by NIrs. Gelman in her ca.pacity as

I

holder of 5,000 shares ofPararnount Holdings Limited, granting certain Bermudian attorneys her

proxy to vote her shares at the annual meeting of the company. This proxy was furnished in

furtherance of the fraudulent scheme to control Mrs. Gelman's assets.

257. On or about April 23, 1993, Defendant Littman tl"ansmitted by fax from Mexico to

Defendant Neschis in New York instructions concerning Mrs. Gelman's bank account at

Bancomer in Mexico. This transmission was part of the fraudulent scheme to gain control over

Mrs. Gelman's assets, including funds located in Mexico,

258, On or about June 14, 1993 Defendant Neschis transmitted via the United States
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mails a letter of instructions to Dr. Madeline-Claire Levis purportedly signed by Mrs. Gelman

requesting that Dr. Escher be appointed as a trustee of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung

Foundation in the place of Dr. Staehelin. Dr. Staehelin was a longtime friend and acquaintance

of Defendant Neschis l
father~ Sidney Cohn! but had become old and infirm and was no longer

able to assist Defendant Neschis with her fraudulent scheme. Dr. Escher was a partner of Dr.

Staehelil1. Defendant Neschis added him to the Defendant Antuna Stiftung Board of Trustees to

preserve her influence over the Defendant Anturia Stiftung in furtherance of the fraudulent

scheme.

259. On or about June 21, 1993, Defenflant Littman transmitted via the United States

mails from Mexico to Defendant Neschisin New York a letter enclosing docwnents he 'lfound in

Natasha's safe" to wit, a letter from one Richard Dunlap that "talks of an account in Curacao we

are unaware of/' and "the registration of Natasha's Mexican Will with the proper authorities in

1989:· Defendant Littman was reporting to Defendant Neschis on the progress of the scheme to

defraud, specifically the results of his theft of important financial documents from Mrs.

Gelman I S safe.

260. On or about July 21, 1993, Defendant Littman transmitted by fax from Mexico to

Defendant Neschis in New York the name and address of Carlos Hank Gonzalez, formally a

political official in Mexico. According to Defendant Littman, Mr. Gonzalez is "a very corrupt

figure." Although the precise role of Mr. Gonzalez and the significance of the fact that Defendant

Littman provided his contract information to Defendant N eschis, is not presently known to

plaintiff it is believed that this information was provided to Defendant Neschis in furtherance of

the fraudulent scheme.

261. On or about July 25, 1993, Defendant Neschis caused her assistant Rita Sultan
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Braunstein, to transmit by fax from New York to a representative of Columbia Pictures in

Burbank, California, a letter purportedly authorizing Columbia Pictures to "release all documents

and infonnation peliaining to the distlibutions fi·om the Ca11tinflas Films to Defendant Neschis

and/or Steve Hyman; Mrs. Gelman's attorneys and to discuss any matters with them." This letter

was part of the fraudulent scheme to gain control of Mrs. Gelman's assets.

262. On or about August 9, 1993, Defendant Neschis caused Joanna First, a legal

assistant employed by her firm to transmit by the United States mails from New York to a

representative of Wamer Brothers in Burbank, California, a letter purportedly authorizing

Warner Brothers to "F:end all statements and checks for Telemont Anstalt to Janet C. Neschis."

This letter was part of the fraudulent scheme to gain control of Mrs. Gelman's assets.

263. On or about August 23, 1993 l Defendant Neschis transmitted by Federal Express

a letter to Carlos Sesma, Esq'l a Mexican attom~y in Mexicol requesting English translations of

Mrs. Gelman's existing Mexican will and Power of Attorney. Defendant Neschis sought these

documents for the purpose of engineering fraudulent amendments to these documents in

furtherance of the scheme to gain control over Mrs. Gelman's assets.

264. On or about September 10, 1993, Defendant Neschis transmitted by the United

States mail a letter of instructions purpoliedly signed by Mrs. Gelman to a bank official at

Morgan Guaranty in New York that fraudulently directed Morgan Guaranty to increase the

monthly distribution from Mrs. Gelman's account to an account maintained by Rita Sultan

Braunstein, Defendant Neschis' assistant, to $6,000.00 per month. In response to the fraudulent

letter ofinstructiollS, Morgan Guaranty paid $6,000.00 per month beginning on October 1, 1993
I

from Mrs. Gelman's accounts directly to Defendant Neschis l control.

265. On or about October 5, 1993, Defendant Littman transmitted by fax from Belgium
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to Defendant Neschis in New York a copy of a letter from the San Francisco Museum of Modem

Art concerning exhibition of works of art from Mrs. Gelma.n's collections with a cover letter

asking Defendant Neschis to respond to the request. On or about the same date Defendant

Littman transmitted a response by fax from Belgium to museum officials in San Francisco
I

advising them that "the matter is settled!! and Defendant Neschis had already written to them.

This correspondence demonstrates the control exerted by Defendant Neschis and Defendant

Littman over Mrs, Gelman's art collections.

266. On or about December 6, 1993, Defendant Littman transmitted a fax from Mexico

to Defendant Neschis in New York a statement from Bancomer in Mexico relating to Mrs,

Gelman's account there. This transmission was pwi of the fraudulent scheme to gain control

over Mrs. Gelman's assets, including funds located in Mexico.

267. On or about December 15, 1992, Defendant Littman transmitted by fax from

Mexico to Defendant Neschis in New York a memorandum purportedly recording a visit by a

representative of Credit Suisse to Ivtrs. Gehnan ~t her home in Mexico City, The memorandum

falsely and fraudulently recorded the events that transpired dUril1g that meeting, and was intended

to, and did, conceal Defendants' fraudulent conduct, which allowed defendants to continue to

pursue their fraudulent scheme.

268. On or about October 4, 1994, Defendant Littman confen·ed by telephone with

Defendant Neschis, for the purpose of furthering and concealing the Defendants' fraudulent

conduct, which allowed the Defendants to continue to pursue their fraudulent scheme.

269. On or about December 17, 1994, Defendant Littman conferred by telephone with

Defendant Neschis to discuss with her the Plaintiff Jerry Jung's concerns about Mrs. Gelman's

mental condition, for the purpose of furthering and concealing the Defendants' fraudulent
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conduct~ which allowed the Defendants to continue to pursue their fraudulent scheme.

270. On or about November 18~ 1997, Neschis transmitted via United States mails a

letter of instructions to the trustees of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung purportedly authorized by

Mrs. Gelman that fraudulently instructed the trustees of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung to amend

the by-laws to include the Inter Vivos Tmst as a beneficiary of fifty-eight (58%) percent of the

trust assets.

a. On or about July 16) ] 999,1 Defendant Neschis transmitted via United

States mails to the trustees of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung in

Liechtenstein a letter demanding arbitration over the fraudulent claim of

the Inter Vivos Trust to fifty-eight (58%) percent ofthe assets of the

Defendant Anturia Stiftung ill accordance with the January 27,. 1998 By-

Laws. The purpose o£this letter was to give effect to the January 27, 1998

By-Laws and thereby divert to Defendants; control the assets of the

Defendant A11turia Stiftung that should rightfully have been distributed to

'Mrs. Gelman's legitimate beneficiaries, including Plaintiff Jung Family.

(Transportation of Stolen Goods, Securities, Moneys Fraudulent State Tax Stamps,
Qr Articles Used In Counterfeiting in ViolatiOlD of 18 U.S.C. 2314)

271. Throughout the Enterprise Period) Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman

transported stolen moneys with .a. value in excess of$5,OOO.OO in interstate and foreign

commerce) knowing the same to have been stolen, converted or taken by fraud.

272. Tlu'oughout the Enterprise Period, Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman

committed larceny in the fann of embezzJement and obtaining property by false pretenses or

promise in violation ofN.V. Pena.l Law § 155.05.
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273. Specifically, in April 1992, Defendant Neschis fraudulently directed Credit

Suisse, Zurich to pay all interest earned on the assets of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung and other

accounts of Mrs. Gelman to an account in Mrs. Gelman's name at Credit Suisse in New York.

274. The purpose of this fi"audulent conduct was to siphon assets from the Defendant

Anturia Stiftung and Mrs. Gehnan to an account to which Defendant N eschis and Defendant

Littman each had access and power of attorney.

275. Throughout the Enterprise Period, defendants embezzled many millions of dollars

from :Mrs. Geltnan~ and B:om the assets that would otherwise have been distributed to her

legitimate beneficiaries by this method.

276. In addition, in or about October 1992, Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman

fraudulently caused the trustees of the Defendant .Antuna Stiftung to amend the by-laws to

provide that the Testamentary Trust should receive fifty-seven (57%) percent, and that Defendant

Littman should receive thirty-one (31 %) percent, of the assets of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung.

In November 1997 j Defendant Neschis fraudulently directed the tmstees of the Defendant

Anturia Stiftung to amend the by-laws to provide that the Inter Vivos Trust should receive fifty-

eight (58%) percent of the assets of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung.

277. By these fraudulent l acts as well as other acts yet to be uncovered, defendants

improperly diverted many millions of dollars from the rightful beneficiaries of the Defendant
I

Anturia Stiftung, thereby injuring among others, the Plaintiff Jung Family, which is a rightful

beneficiary afnot less than twenty-seven (27%1) percent of the assets of the Defendant Antuna

Stiftung.
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278. That these fraudulent acts were accomplished by and through the transportation of

stolen moneys across national borders and across state lines, in interstate and/or foreign

commerce.

COUNT VI
(Violation of 18 U.S.c. § 1962(c)

A2ainst Defendants Neschls oDd Littman)

279. That the Plaintiff Jung Family repeats, reiterates and realleges each and every

allegation as contained in paragraphs "1-27811 as though more fully set forth at length herein.

280. That Defendant Neschis and Defel1dant Littman conducted or participated in, and

continue to direct and participate in, directly aJ"d indirectly, the affairs of the enterprise through

the pattern of racketeering acbvity involving predicate acts that include embezzlement, fraud,

larceny, mail fraud and wire fraud.

281. That Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman benefitted and profited, and
I

continue to benefit and profit, from these racketeering acts as alleged in the preceding

paragraphs.

282. That the Plaintiff Jung Family has been injured by reason ofDefendant Neschis's

and Defendant Littman's racketeering activities in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).

283. That as a direct and proximate result of Defendants' racketeering activities, as

well as other acts yet to be uncovered, Plaintiff Jung Family has suffered damages as alleged in

the preceding paragraphs.

284. That under the provisio11S of 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c)j Plaintiff Jung Family is entitled

to recover treble damages, costs ofbringil1.g this suit, and attorney's fees.
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COUNT VII
(Violation of 18 U.S.c. §1962(d)

Aeainst Defelldants Neschis and Littman)

285. That the Plaintiff lung Family repeats, reiterates and realleges each and every

allegation as contained in paragraphs" 1-284" as though more fully set forth at length herein.

286. In violation of 18 U.S .C. §1962(d), at all times relevant herein, Defendant Neschis

and Defendant Littman conspired, and continue to conspire, with others, to violate 18 U.S.c.

§I962(d) through a pattern of racketeering activity.

287. That the Defendant Neschis, Defendant Littman and others committed, and

continue to commit, numerous wrongful overt acts, as above in the pattern of racketeering

activity, in furthera.nce of the conspiracy, including but not limited to, commencement of

arbitration proceedings under false pretenses to make wrongful claim of entitlement to fifty-eight

(58%) percent of the assets of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung.

288. That the Defendant Neschis, Defendant Littman and others agreed to commit the

predicate acts set forth herein, with lmowledge that such acts were part of the pattern of

racketeering activity and part of the scheme to defraud Mrs. Gelman, to the material detriment of

Plaintiff Jung Family and the other rightful beneficiaries of the assets of the Defendant Anturia
I

Stiftung.

289. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C.

§1962(c), as well as other acts yet to be uncovered, Plaintiff Jung Family has suffered damages

as alleged in the preceding paragraphs.

290. Under the provisions of 18 U.S.C. §1964(a), Plaintiff lung Family as an il1nocent

person is entitled to equitable relief in the form of restitution and disgorgement of all earnings,

profits and benefits obtained by Defendants.

58



JUN-18-2010 09:25 AM BOBROWSKY 0000000000 P.59

291. Under the provisions of 18 U.S.C. §1964(c), Plaintiff lung Family is entitled to

recover treble damages, costs of bringing this suit, and attorney's fees.

COUNT VIII
(Constructl.Ye Irust Aialn~tAll Defendant§)

292. That the Plaintiff Jung Family repeats, reiterates and realleges each and every

allegation as contail1ed in paragraphs 141_2911' as though more fully set forth at length herein.

293. That by virtue of the foregoing, a relationship of confidence and trust existed by

and between Defendant Neschis, Defendant Littman, Defendant Diamond, the Defendant Antuna

Stiftung, Defendant Dr. Escher, Defendant Dr. Sprenger and Defendant Dr. Schulthess and the
I

Plaintiff Jung Family.

294. That by virtue of the foregoing, Defendant Neschis, Defendant Littman,

Defendant Diamond, Defendant Anturia Stiftung, Defendant Dt. Escher, Defendant Dr. Sprenger

and Defendant Dr. Schulthess had an obligation to carry out what they knew, and had reason to

know, were the actual testamentary intentions of Mrs. Gelman, as they existed before she became

of unsound mind.

295. That by virtue of the foregoing, there existed an express or implied promise on the

part of the Defendants that they would effectuate what they knew to be the testamentary

intentions of 1vrrs. Gelman.

296, That despite the foregoing~ the Difendants caused the funds of the Defendant

Anturia Stiftung to be distributed in a manner that was not consistent with the testamentary

intentions of Mrs. Gelman.

297. That despite the foregoing, the Defendants caused the funds to be distributed for

their own benefits, and for the benefit of others not yet known to the Plaintiffs.
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298. That as a result of such acts l as well as other acts to be uncovered, all the

Defendants are constructive trustees, ex malificto, of such assets.

I

299. That as a result of the foregoing; the Plaintiff Jung Family demand that a

constructive trust be imposed on all of the assets of all of the Defendants wherever located, and

that all of the Defel1dants be deemed trustees for the benefit of the Plaintiff Jung Family, and that

all corporate oppOliunities, assets, monies, properties, and the like diverted from snd/or

converted from the Plaintiff Jung Family be immediately transferred and returned to the Plaintiff

Jung Fa!l1;ily.

COUNT IX

(Consttyctive Trust n. Aiainst Defenda.nts Neschis, Littman and Diamond)

300. That the Plaintiff Jung Family repeats, reiterates and realleges each and every

allegation as contained in paragraphs "1-299" as though more fully set forth at length herein.
I

3a1. That by virtue of the foregoing misconduct, as alleged herein, which includes; but

is not limited to, bringing about the changes in Mrs. Gelman's estate plan when she was no

longer of sound mind~ as set forth above, so as to divert monies to the Inter Vivos Trust and the

Testamentary Trust, the Inter Vivos Trust and the Testamentary Trust have received assets, and

will continue to receive assets, that are in truth and in fact the property of the Plaintiff Jung

Family.

302, That by virtue of the foregoing misconduct, as alleged herein, the Defendants

Neschis, Littman and Diamond have caused the Inter Vivos Trust and the Testamentary Trust to

receive assets which are in troth and in fact the property of the Plaintiff Jung Family.

303. That as trustees under the Inter Vavos Trust and Testamentary Trust, the

Defendants Neschis, Littman and Diamond had a confidential and/or fiduciary relationship with
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Mrs. Gelman and her legitima.te heirs, including the Plaintiff Jung Family~ as a matter of law.

304. That the Defendants took advantage of and/or otherwise abused the confidential

and/or fiduciary relationship described hereinabove, by converting and/or diverting corporate

opportunities. assets, monies. properties. and the like otherwise owned by and/or due to the

Plaintiff Jung Family.
I

305. That as a result of the foregoing, as well as other acts yet to be uncovered~ the

Plaintiff Jung Family demand that a constructive trust be imposed on all of tile assets of the

Defendants Neschis, Littman and Diamond wherever located, and that the Defendants Neschis,

Litman and Diamond be deemed trustees for the benefit of the Pla.intiff Jung Family, and that all

corporate opportunities, assets, monies, pl'Operties, and the like diverted from and/or converted

from the Plaintiff Jung Family, and transferred to the Inter Vivos Trust or the Testamentary Trust

be immediately transferred and returned to the Plaintiff .Tung Family.

COUNT X
(Constructive Trust III. Defendnnts Neschis, Littman andDiamQnd)

306. That the Plaintiff Jung Family repeats, reiterates and realleges each and every

allegation as contained in paragraphs "1-305" as Ithough more fully set forth at length herein.

307. That by virtue of the foregoing, the Defendants were unjustly enriched, at the

expense and to the detriment of the Plaintiff Jung Family.

308. That by virtue of the foregoing, the Defendants have come into property, to wit,

the assets of the Inter Vivos Trust and Testamentary Trust; as well as testamentary bequests

received by them from the assets of the Defendant Antuna Stiftung.

309. That by virtue of the foregoing, the Defendants have come into such property

under such circumstances that they should not, in equity, be allowed to retain it.
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310, Tllat by virtue of the foregoing, the Ddendant:s are constructive trustees with

regard to the assets of the Inter Vivos Trust and Testamentary Trust.

311. That all the Defendants are knowing transferees of the fraudulent cOlweyances,

conversions! and/or transferred assets, as set forth hereinabove.

312. That all the Defendants paid insufficient and/or 110 consideration for such

conveyances and/or transfers.

313. That by virtue of the foregoing, a constructive tillSt exists with respect to the

assets of the Inter Vivos Trust and Testamentary Tl1.l.st, in favor of the Plaintiff Jung Family.

'VHEREFORE j Plaintiff Jung Family prays for an order and judgment against

defendants as follows:

a. For a declaration that Plaintiff .lung Family is entitled to receive a

distribution oftwenty~sevell (27%) percent of the assets, wherever located,

of the Defendant Anturia Stiftung;

b. For damages against Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman! jointly

and severally, and/or disgorgement from the Inter Vivos Trust, in the
I

amounts improperly converted from Plaintiff lung Family, to be proven at

trial but not less than $21 million;

c. For punitive damages against Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman;

d. For treble damages against Defendant Neschis and Defendant Littman

pursuant to 18 U.S.c. §1964(c) for Defendants~ civil RlCO violations;

e. For an order imposing a constructive trust on all of the assets of the

Defendants wherever located;

f. For the costs of this action, including attorneys' fees and amounts
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expended in discovering defendants l fraud; and

g. For such other and further relief as the Court shall deem just and proper,

Dated: Williston Park, New York
October 30! 2002

STEVEN L. LEVITT & ASSOCIATES~ p.e.
\. "..

By: James'J. Daw! Jr. (JD6835)
Attorneys for Plaintiff Jung Family
Two Hillside Avenue, Bldg, F
W11liston Park! NY 11596
(516) 248-9700
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Leon P. Gold (LG-1434)
Elise A. Yablonski (EY-1841)
Proskauer Rose LLP
1585 Broadway
New York, New York 10036-8299
(212) 969-3000

Attorneyslor Plaintiff Weizmann Institute ofScience

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

WEIZMANN INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE,

/

,.--76
\.......

.1 •
I

Plaint~[f.

-against-

JANET C. NESCHIS, individually and in her
capacities as Trustee of the Jacques and Natasha I

Gelman Trust dated November 18, 1997, and as
Trustee of the Trust Created Under the Last Will
and Testament of Natasha Gelman dated April 23
1993, ROBERT R. LITTMAN, individually and 11
his capacity as Successor Trustee of the Tnlst
Created Under the Last Will and Testament of
Natasha Ge1ma11 dated April 23, 1993, and
MARYLIN G. DIAMOND, in her capacity as
Trustee ofthe Jacques and Natasha Gelman Trust
dated November 18, 1997, and as Tnlstee of the
Tmst Created Under the Last Will and Testament of
Natasha Gelman dated April 23, 1993.

Defendants.

00 eiv. 7850 (RMB)

AMENDED COMPLAINT·

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

c­
...0

Plaintiff Weizmann Institute of Science ("Weizmann Institttte"), by its attomeys
I

Proskauer Rose LLP. for its amended complaint, alleges on infom1ation and belief, except as to

paragraph 6, which is alleged on personal knowledge, as follows:
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1. This action arises from a fraudulent scheme perpetrated by defendants Janet

C. Neschis, Robert R. Littman and others, to def~aud Mrs. Natasha Gelman, an elderly, wealthy

widow who became mentally incompetent in the last years of her life. The purpose of the scheme

was to obtain control over Mrs. Gelman's substantial assets and divert them to Neschis l and

Littman's personal use and benefit. To carry out the scheme, inter alia, Neschis and Littman

interfered with the contractua.l rights and Icgitil1i.ate expectations of the charitable beneficiaries of

a Liechtenstein Foundation established by Mrs. Ge:.man and her late husband. PlaintiffWeizmann

Institute was an intended beneficiary of the Liebhtcnstein Foundation. Neschis and Littman

unlawfully obtained control over Mrs. Gelman's as~ets through, inter alia, creating fraudule11t will

and tmst documents and fraudulent letters ofinstmction purpolting to express the intentions of Mrs.

Gelman. NMChis and Littman concealed their scheme by controlling access to Mrs. Gelman after

the onset of her incapacity to create an illusion that she remained of sound mind and iii control of

her sffairs, and thereby to prevent discovery of her incapacity and defendants' scheme. When

defendants' control and attempts at control failed, they resorted to financial influence and/or threats

to coerce others to remain silent with respect to Mrs. Gelman's incapacity. The conspiracy to

defraud Mrs. Gelman and steal from her legitimate beneficiaries was fanned in New York, and many

orihe acts in furtherance of the conspiracy were perpetrated in New York. Defendant Neschis was
I

Mrs. Gelman's attomey. Defendant Littman was Mrs. Gelman's close companion. They were

assisted by others residing in the U.S., Mexico and Europe. The defendants also include the tnlstees

of two tnlsts created fraudulently by defendants Neschis and Littman to receive the proceeds of their

fraud. The acts occurred during the last years of Mrs. Gelman's life after she had been rendered

incompetent by Alzheimer's disease and was incapable of protecting her own interests or managing

her own affairs.

2
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2. Following the onset of Mrs. Gelman's incapacity, defendants Neschis,

Littman and others acted to effect unauthorized changes to Mrs. Gelman's financial affairs ,

including the Liechtenstein foundation (the Antw'ia Foundation) created by Mrs. Gelman and her

late husband, to convert to their own use and benefit millions of dollars intended for plaintiff and

others by transferring the funds to their own control. Neschis, Littman and others took advantage

of Mrs. Gelman's mental condition and, falsely pu.rporting to act on Mrs. Gelman's behalf, caused

unlawful and unauthorized changes in the beneficimy provisions ofthe AntUlia Foundation by-laws,

which changes, inter alia, purported to eliminate plaintiff Wcizmann Institute as a beneficiary.

Further, Neschis and Littman unlawfully withdrew over $10 million from the Anturia Foundation,

and other funds of the widow, during her lifetime. Their persistent acts of fraud and undue in.fluence

on Mrs. Gelm.an, set forth below j whi.ch were dcsi~~ned to convert Mrs. Geiman's assets to Neschis

and Littman by effecting unauthoriz.ed changes to Mrs. Gelman's financial affairs, constitute a

patten; of racketeering acti vi.ty that began in 1990 or 1991 and continues to the present day.

3. By this lawsuit, plaintiff Wqi7.mann Institute seeks: a) an award of damages

against defendants Neschis and Littman, and/or disgorgement from the fraudulently~createdtrust,

in the amount of plaintiff's rightful share of the assets of the Anturia Foundation) including its

proportioMlte share ofthc amounts unlawfully withdrawn from the Anturia Foundation by Neschis

and Littman, plus interest; b) imposition of a constmctive tnlst over the assets of the Anturia

Foundation improperly received by Littman and the Inter Vivos Trust; c) punitive damages against

Neschis ami Littman; d) treble damages against Neschis and Littma.n under the RICO statute; and

e) an award ofattomeys fees that plaintiffwas required to expend to uncover and expose defendants'

misfeasance, against Neschis and Littman.

3 1
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4. This action arises under I a) the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt

Organizations provisions of the Organized Crime Control Act of 1970, 18 U.S.C. § 1961, et seq.

C'RreO") and b) applicable common law principles of conversion and tortious interference with

contract. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under RICO, 18 U.S.c. § 1965(a), Section

1331 of the JUdicial Code (28 U .S,c. § 1331) (fede~:al question jurisdiction) and Section 1367 of the

judicial Code (28 U.S.c. § 1367 (supplemental jurisdiction), This Court also has subject matter

jurisdiction over plaintiffs claims arising under st.lte law under Section 1332(a)(2) of the Judicial

Code (28 U.S.c. §1332(a)(2)) in that plaintiff is an ~ntity orgaJ1izec1 under the laws ofIsracl having

its principal place of business in Israel, and all ddcndants are citizens of the United States and

resident~ ofthe State of New York. The amount in controversy exceeds $75,000, exclusive of costs

and interest

5 Venue is proper In this District pursuant to RICO, 18 U,S.C. § 1965(a), and

Section 1391 of the Judicial Code (28 U.S.c. § 1391). Defendants reside in New York, and most

of the events giving risc to the claims asserted herein occurred in New York.

Ihe Parties

6. Plainti ff Weizmann Institute is an international center of scientific research

and graduate study located in Rehovot, Israel. The Weiztnann Institute was founded in 1934 by Dr.

Chaim Weizmann, a chemist and world Zionist leader. Now a community of2,400 scientists and

postgraduate students, the Weizmann Institute has remained at the forefront of international
I

scientific research and development. Research by Weizmann Institute scientists benefits the public

interest, notably in the fight against disease and hunger, the protection of the environment, and the

4
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development of new technologies for economic growth. The Institute is a charitable organization

under the laws of the State ofIsraeI.

7. Defendant Janet C. Neschiii ("Neschis") is an attorney admitted to practice

in the State of New York and a member of McLauE;hlin & Stem j LLP, During the time of the events

at issue herein, Neschis was a member of Leavy, Rosensweig & Hyman. Neschis is a resident of

the State of New York. Neschis alleges to have been appointed as a tmstee of the Jacques and

Natasha Gelman Trust; a testamentary trust l by the terms of the alleged Last Will and Testament of

Natasha Gelman dated April 23, 1993 and is presently purporting to serve in that capacity. Neschis

was allegedly appointed as a trustee of the Jacques land Natasha GeIman Tmst, an inter vivos trust,

by the terms ofthe trust instrument dated Novemb::r 18, 1997, and is presently purporting to serve

in that capacity. Neschis is sued individually and in her capacities as Trustee of the Jacques and

Natasha Gelman ill tel' vivos trust and as Trustee of the Jacques and Natasha Gelman testamentary

trust.

8. Defendant Robel1 R. Littman ("Littman") is a resident of the State of New

York. Littman was allegedly appointed as an altematc trustee ofthe Jacques and Natasha Gelman

Trust, a testamentary trust, by the temlS of the Last Will and Testament of Natasha Gelman dated

April 23, 1993. Littman was Mrs. Gelman's constant companion. As Mrs. Gelman's mental

condition deteriorated~ Littman took up residence iii Mrs. Gelman's homes in Mexico and used his

close prox.imity to Mrs. Gelman to further the scheme to control Mrs. Gelman and her assets.

Littman controlled access to Mrs. Gelman, travekd with her and purported to speak for her and

represent her in connection with business and persol1al matters, including matters relating to Mrs.

Gelman's world-renowned collections of European and Mexican paintings. Littman is sued

5
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individually and in his capacity as alternate Trustee of the Jacques and Natasha Gelman testamentary

trust.

9, Defendant Marylin G. Diamond ("Diamond") is sued solely in her capacities

as Trllstee of the Jacques and Natasha Gelman imer vivos tmst and as Tmstee of the Jacques and

Natasha Gelman testamentary trust. No allegations of unlawful conduct herein are directed against

Diamond, Diamond is an attomey admitted to pra.ctice in the State of New York and, since 1991,

is an Acting Justice of the New York Supreme Cc,urt sitting in New York County, Diamond is a

resident of the State of New York. Diamond was a partner in Leavy Rosensweig & Hyman, in

which Neschis was also a partner, and represented Mrs, Gelman prior to the time she left the fiml

to assume her duties as a judge, Thereafter, Diamond was allegedly appointed as a trustee of the

Jacques and Natasha Gelman Trust, a testamentary trust, by the 1enns of the alleged Last Will and

Testament of Natasha Gelman dated April 23, 1993 and is presently purporting to serve in that

capacity, Diamond was allegedly appointed as a tnistce of the Jacques and Natasha Gelman Trust,

an inter vivos trust, by the tC1111.S of the trust instrLlrr.ent dated November 17, 1997, and is presently

purporting to serve in that capacity.

Natasha Gelman '$ Estate Plan

10, Jacques and Natasha Gelman accumulated substantial wealth as a result of

Mr, Gelman's success as an entertaimnent agent and film producer. The Gelmans became collectors

of modern art and by the end of their lives had accumulated a collection of approximately 85

paintings hy modem European masters like Pica-St'o, Matisse, Mira and Bonnard and a separate

collection of 95 works of Mexican modem art, both of which are world-renowned. They had no

children.

6
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11. To preserve their wealth, the Gelmans established vanOl!S offshore
I

investments. Some of these entities were formed to receive the royalties of Mr, Gelman's successful

films. These entities were created on the advice of Sidney Cohn, Esq., Mr. Gelman's longtime

attorney. Mr. Colm had established relationships in, among other places, Liechtenstein and

Switzerland, which facilitated the creation of Liechtenstein investment entities on behalf of his

clients, The assets deposited into these entities were to be distributed in accordance with their tenns

upon the death of the Germans, and would not pass under the Gelmans' wills. Among these entities

were Waterford Settlement Trust, Aldford Holdings, Limited, Paramount Holdings, Limited,

Telemont Anstalt and Anturia Foundation. Neschis took advantage of her father's established

relationships to gain the tnlst of these foreign fiduciaries, which facilitated her fraudulent schemes.

12. In or about 1985, the Gelm~ns founded the Anturia Foundation, a Stiftung

organized under the laws of the Plincipality of Liechtenstein. As of June 1998, the Foundation held

in excess of$36 million in assets. As ofJuly 1, 2001, the Foundation he.ld in excess of$39.811")il1ion

in assets.

13. Liechten~tein law provides that a Stiftung is administered by a board of

tnlstees in accordance with its charter and by-laws. The Charter of the Anturia Foundation provides

that "The purpose of the FOLtndation ~hall be the management of the Foundation's capita.l assets and

all transactions rela.ting thereto, as well as the distribution of bequests from the earnings of the

Foundation's capital assets, or from the capital assets themselves, to any persons and/or institutions

designated ElS beneficiaries by the Board of Trustees in a governing instnunent."

7
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14. In accordance with the Charter, the board of tmstees of the Anturia

Foundation (the "Foundation Trustees))) enacted by-laws. As further descdbed herein, the by-laws

of the Anturia Foundation) as amended from time to time, provided that the assets of the Anturia

Foundation would be distributed to the beneficiaries of the Foundation in accordance with the tenns

of the by-laws upon the death of the surviving spouse.

15. It was expressly understood by the Gelmans and the Foundation Tmstees,

Fides and/or Credit Suisse that the Gelmans would provide instmctions, and that the Foundation

Tll1stee~, Fides and/or Credit Suisse would follow the instmctions of the Gelmans~ with respect to

changing the beneficiaries and the bequests set forth in the by-laws. At the time the Foundation was

established, the Gelmans were assured that they would COl1tiliue to control the money in the

Foundation. This aSSl.lranCe was also given effect by thc designation of Jacques and Natasha

Gelman as unconditional primary beneficiaries of the foundation, It was clear to everyone when the

foundation was established, and later 011 as well) that the wishes of the Gelmans, mainly with respect

to designation of beneficiaries and amendments to the by-laws, were always to be carried out. In

fact, all legitimate changes were instituted and authorized personally by Mr. or Mrs. Gelman.

16. Jacql.le~ Gelman died on July 23, 1986. From time to time following Mr.

Gelman's death, and prior to her loss of mental cflpacity, Mrs. Gelman made certain legitimate

amendments to the by-laws of the Anturia Foundation. On each occasion on which a legitimate

change was made, Mrs. Gelman traveled to Zurich and made the changes in her own handwriting

to a copy of the by~laws.

8
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17, On or about August 10, 1989, prior to the events at issue herein, and while

Mrs. Gelman remained of sound mind and free of duress and undue influence, the by~laws of the

Anturia Foundation were amended to provide as follows:

a. that the Weizmann Institute, plaintiffherein, would receive 20% of the assets
of the Foundation;

b. that members of the Jung family (Mrs, Gelman's blood relatives) would
receive approximately 34% 'ofthe assets of the Foundation;

c, that other named charities would receive 39% of the assets of the Foundation
(the charities and the percent of the assets to be given to each was
specifically set forth); and

d. other named beneficiaries would receive the remaining 7% of the assets.

J 8, In 1989, Mrs, Gelman agreed to bequeath the collection of modem European

art, valued at more than $300 million, to the Metropolitan Museum of Art in New York. The

museUnl exhibited the Jacques and Natasha Gelman collection in 1990. The Ge1mans' Mexican art

collectiol1 and real property in Mexico were to be disposed of in accordance with a Mexican will.

Mrs. Gelman's remaining New York assets were to be: disposed of by a will to be probated in New

York.

19. On or about August 13, 1991, prior to the events at issue herein, and while

Mrs. Gelman remained of sound mind and free of duress and undue influence, the by-laws of the

Anturia Foundation were amended to provide as follows:

a, that members of the .lung family (Mrs. Gelman's blood relatives) would
receive approximately 37% of the assets of the Foundation;

b. that defendant Littman would receive approximately 1% of the assets of the
Foundation;

9
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c. that the Weizmann Institute, plaintiff herein, would receive 20% of the assets
of the Foundation;

d. that other named charities would receive 39% of the assets ofthe Foundation
(the charities and the per~ent of the assets to be given to each was
specifically set forth); and

e, other named beneficiaries would receive the remaining 3% of the assets.

The percentage interests of the Weizmann Institute and the other charitable beneficiaries were

unchanged from the prior by-laws.

20. The by~laws dated August 10, 1989 and/or the by"laws dated August 13, 1991

were the last by-laws executed in accordance with Mrs. Gelman's instructions while Mrs. Gelman

remaincd of sound mind and free of duress and undue jnfl~lence (the "Last Valid By-Laws"),

Defendants; Fraud and Undue InDuence Over Mrs. Gelrwm

21. Some time in late 1991, Mrs, Gelman began to suffer fr0111 Alzheimer's
I

disease. Mrs, Gelman became forgetful, did not want to socialize, and exhibited angry outbursts and

other irrational behavior. After a serious bout with pneumol1ia in November 1991) her condition

worsened to the point where she had becorne listless, could not recall day-to-day events and was

confused by financial transactions, By late 1991, Mrs. Gelman could no longer travel

independently. Thereafter, Littman and/or Neschis accompanied her on all of her travels, including

between Mexico, New York, Switzerland and elsewhere.

22. On or about January 8, 1992, Mrs. Gelman was examined by Samuel

Rapoport, MD., Ph,D. in connection with complaints that Mrs. Gelman had been having "difficulty

with memory for some time" and "great difficulty remembering appointments and remembering
I

things from one minute to the next." Dr. Rapoport noted that "This became suddenly exacerbated

10
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after an illness in the Fall that led to hospitalization for two weeks." Dr. Rapoport concluded that

"Mrs. Gelman has a clear shortmtenn memory deficit. ll

23. Prior to 1995, Mrs, Gelman made personal visits to her doctor, but the results

of their observations are not presently hown to plaintiff. In March 1995, Mrs. Gelman was

examined by Fred Plum, M,D., a neurologist affiliated with the New York Hospital· Cornell

Medical Center. Dr. Plum concluded, in a written report of his examination, that "Mrs, Gelman

appears to have progressive Alzheimer's Disease with a fairly typical pattern of memory loss leading

all other cognitive disabilitie!' in their deterioration," and that "the results of the present examination

indicate that she lacks testamentary mental capacity" Based (m Dr. Pluni,'s findings and eyewitness
I

accounts of Mrs. Gelman's condition from the tirne of her husband's death, Robert Frelll1d1ich~

M,D., a neurologist with experience treating elderly patients with Alzheimer's disease, conchlded

in 1999 that "it is my opinion that Mrs. Gelman was suffering from dementia of the Alzheimer's

type in 1992."

24. Tb.e Gelmans were originally represented by Sidney Cohn, Esq., a member

of Cohn, Glickstein & Lurie (the "Cohn firm"). Mr, Cohn was an entctiainment lawyer who had

a longstanding relationship with Mr. Gelman dating back to the 1950's. The Cohn finn prepared

wills and codicils for the Gelmans until 1989, Mr. Cohn died in 1991. Shortly before Mr. Cohn's

death, representation of Mrs. Gelman was transferred to Diamond, then an attorn.ey in the Cohn finn.
I

Diamond represented Mrs. Gelman until Diamond was elected as ajudge in 1991. In or about 1991,

representation of Mrs. Gelman was transfen"ed to defendant Ncschis, Mr. Cohn's daughter and

Diamond's fom1er law partner. It was around or after Mr. Cohn's death, when Neschis became

counsel to Mrs. Gelman, that the events at issue herein commeJ1ced.

11
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25. In or about late 1991, defendants Neschis and Littman began to take unlawful

advantage of Mrs. Gelman's impaired mental condition by fraudulently assuming fiscal authority

over Mrs. Gelman's assets, cementing themselves as the sale custodians of her substantial estate and

charitable trust, unlawfully taking millions of dollars from the Anturia Foundation and Mrs.

Gelman's personal assets, and increasing the bequests, commissions and/or fees to be received by

these defendants.

26. On or ahout December 2, 1991 and April 1, 1992, Mrs. Gelman purportedly

executed general powers of attorney in favor ofNeschis and Littman. The only witness to the power

of attomey granted to Littman was Neschis. The witness to the powers of attorney granted to

Neschis were employees of Neschis' own law firm. Also during Apri! 1992, Mrs. Geln1.an

additionally purportedly signed severa! additional powers of attomcy authorizing Neschis to conduct

transactions in Mrs. Gelman's accounts at several banks in New York. These documents were

executed under duress and undue influence and after Mrs. Gelman was no longer of sound mind, and

for the purpose ofobtainillg and consolidating defendants' control over Mrs. Gelman's assets.

27. On or about April 1, 1992, Mrs. Gelman purportedly executed a Mexican

general power of attorney authorizing Littman to cctnduct transactions on behalf of Mrs. Gelman in

Mexico. Although prepared for use in Mexico, this document was executed in New York and was

witnessed only by Neschis and a legal assistant employed by Neschis' law fh:m. This document was

executed under duress and undue influence and after Mrs. Gelman was no longer of sound mind, and

for the purpose of obtaining and consolidating defendants' control over Mrs. Gelman's assets

located around the world.

12
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28. As discussed in greater detail below, between April a.nd October 1992,

Neschis and Littman caused the trustees of the Anturia Foundation to enact fraudulent by-laws that

substantially changed the dispositive provisions to favor, among others, Littman and a charitable

tmst to be controlled by Neschis.

29. On or about April 23, 1993, Mrs, Gelman purpOliedly changed her will by

executing a new Last Will and Testament (the "1993 Will"). In the 1993 Will, Neschis is appointed

to serve as executor of the estate. Diamond and Littman are each appointed as alternate executors.

Tn wills executed prior to 1989, Sidney Cohn had been appointed to serve as executor or eO M

executor.

30. Under the tenns of the 1993 Will, Mrs, Gelman's closest living blood

relatives, Miroslav lung, Jaroslav lung and Mario Sebastian, each receive bequests of $10,000,

Littman receives a $500,000 bequest. The bequests to the lung family are substantially lower, and

the bequest to Littman is substantially higher, tqan bequests in earlier wills executed by Mrs.

Gelman.

31. The 1993 Will also provided for the creation of the Jacques and Natasha

Gelnl.an Tmst (the "Testamentary Trust"), to exist in perpetuity, for charitable, literary, educational

and other purposes, to be funded by Mrs. Gelman's residuary estate. The Testamentary Tmst was

to be administered by Neschis and Diamond as co-trustees, and Littman as alternate trustee. The

Trustees arc authorit:ed to spend the income and principal of the Testamentary Trust, in their sale

discretion, consistent with its purposes. The reduction of the bequests to the Jl,.lng family
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28. As discussed in greater detail below, between April and October 1992,

Neschis and Littman caused the tnlstees of the Anturia FO\.1rtdation to enact fraudulent by-laws that

substantially changed the dispositive provisions to favor, among others, Littman and a charitable

tmst to be controlled by Neschis.

29. On Dr about April 23, 1993, Mrs, Gelman purportedly changed her will by

executing a new Last Will and Testament (the ,. 1993 Will"). In the 1993 Will, Neschis is appointed

to serve as executor of the estate. Diamond and Littman are each appointed as alternate executors,

in wills executed prior to 1989, Sidney Cohn had been appointed to serve as executor or co"

executor.

30. Under t1le terms of the 1993 Will, Mrs, Gelman's closest living blood

relatives, Miros1av lung, Jaroslav Jung and Mario Sebastian, each receive bequests of $lO,OOO.

Littman receives a $500,000 bequest. The bequests to the lung family are sllbstantially lower, and

the bequest to Littman is substantially higher, tl~an bequests it1 earlier wil1s executed by Mrs,

Gelman.

31. The 1993 Will also provided for the creation of the Jacql..les and Natasha

Gelman Tmst (the "Testamentary Trust"), to exist in perpetuity~ for charitable, literary, educational

and other purposes, to be funded by Mrs. Gelman's residuary estate. The Testamentary Tnlst was

to be administered by Ncschis and Diamond as co~trustees, and Littman as altemate trustee, The

Trustees are authorized t() spend the income and principal of the Testamentary Trust, in their sole

discretiol1 j consistent with its purposes, The reduction of the bequests to the Jung family
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substantially increased Mrs. Gelmanls residuary estate, which was to be placed into the

Testal'l.1entary Trust l which was to be controlled by Neschis.

32. A similar testamentary tnlst was first included in Mrs. Gelman's will in 1988.

However, in the 1993 Will, defendants Neschis and Littman changed the purposes for which the

assets ofthe Testamentary Trust would be llsed. The 1988 will provides that the assets of the trust

"be used for medical research for Heart Disease, Arthritis, Cancer and for the assistance of the aged

and infil1ll." This provision remained unchanged in three subsequent wills executed in 1989 and

1990, In fact, provisions expressing Mrs. Gelman's intention to benefit medical research in her

testamentary plans appear 111 wills dating back to 1968. However, the 1993 Will adds: "or (b) for

the aid and assistance of artists in the United States and Mexico through a program of annual gifts

to artists," which is entirely new.

33- The 1993 Will was made after Mrs_ Gelman no longer- had testamentary

capacity and was no longer ofsOllt1d mind. Mrs, Gelman was influenced to execute the 1993 Will

by fra~ld, duress and undue inf1uence brought to bear by Neschis and Littman for their personal

benefit. Neschis and Littman fraudulently obtained defendants! own appointment as Tmstees ofthe

Testamentary Trust for the purpose of obtaining and consolidating their control over Mrs. Gelman's

assets.

I

34, In or about January 1993, Neschis contacted a Mexican attorney to make

inquiries abolLt whether Littman could be appointed trustee of the Gelmans' Mexican art collection.

Neschis advised the Mexican attorney that she would come to Mexico to finalize an'angements for

the creation of the Natasha Gelman Foundation for this purpose, Papers were prepared in
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accordance with Neschis' discussions with the Mexican attorney. However, Neschis thereafter

stopped communicating with the Mexican attorney.

35, 011 or about March 10, 1992 and January 19, 1993, Littman transmitted to

Neschis two of his own proposals for disposition of the Gelman's Mexican art collection. In the first

proposal, the collection would be placed in perpetuity with the Centro Cl.l1tural I Arte

Contemporaneo, the Mexican museum at which Litfman was then employed, In the second proposal

(submitted after the Centro Cultural I Arte Contemporaneo unexpectedly failed), the collection

would be placed in perpetnlty with the San Francisco Museum of Modem Art. In both scenarios,

Littman and Ncschis would receive lifetime appointment as members of an oversight committee

with responsibility to supervise the exhibitiQn of the collection.

36. Rejecting each ofthcse proposals, Neschis contacted a different Mexican law

finn and arral1ged for the preparation of a new Mexican will for Mrs. Gelman. On or about August

20, 1993, Mr~. Gelman P1.llVOl1edly signed a new Mexican will. Pursuant to this wlll, the Gelmans'

Mexican art collection is bequeathed to Littman outright, subject only to the conditions that the

col1ection be kept together and that it be exhibited in a private mUSe1.lm to be selected by Littman.
I

Mrs. Gclman1s real property in Mexico is to be sold and the proceeds are to be lIsed for the

maintenance of the art collection, and payment of bequests to two of Mrs. Gelman's household

servants. This will names Littman as executor, Incongruously, Neschis is named as a successor

executor, de~pjte the fact that she has never lived in Mexico.

37. On or about February 11,1994, Noschis caused Mrs. Gelman to sign a power

of aLtomey purpOlting to appoint Neschis as attomcy-in-fact of Aldford Holdings~ Ltd., a British
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Virgin Islands corporation fanned by the Gelmans for the purpose of preserving their assets in

offshore entities. Mrs. Gelman's signature on the power of attorney is not notarized. On the same

date, Neschis caused Mrs. Gelman to sign a corporate resolution on behalf of Aldford Holdings, Ltd.

purportedly designating Morgan Guaranty Tmst as the depository of the corporationls funds and

purportedly designating Neschis to be the sole authorized signatory. These documents were signed

by Mrs, Gelman as a result of fraud and undue influence after she was no longer of sound mind.

38. On or abo~lt October 28, 1994, Mrs. Gelman purportedly executed an affidavit

attesting that at the time of her execution of the 1993 Will, it had been her intention that Neschis

should receive a full commission for her services as executor of Mrs. Gelrnan's estate, and that

Neschis' law fi1111, Leavy, Rosensweig & Hyman, receive legal fees incurred in connection with

administration of the estate. This affidavit was executed after Mrs, Gelman had lost testamentary

capacity and wns no longer of sound mind, Mrs. Gelman was intll..lenced to execute this affidavit

by fraud, duress and undue influence brought to be<Ui by Neschis and Littman for the personal benefit

ofNeschis and her law firm,

39. Under circumstances presently unknown to plaintiff, Neschis became the sale

trustee of the Waterford Settlement Trust and in that capacity has sole and exclusive control over

substantial amounts of the Gelmans l wealth located in England. Among the beneficiaries of the

Waterford Settlement Trust are Littman and the Inter Vivos Tmst controlled by Neschis.

40. On or about March 17 j 1997, Neschis caused Mrs. Gelman to sign a power

of attorney purporting to appoint Neschis as attomey.in-fact of Telemont Anstalt, a Liechtenstein

trust entity fonned by the Gelmans for the purpose of preserving their assets in offshore entities.
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On the same date, Neschis caused Mrs. Gelman to ~ign a corporate resolution on behalf of Aldford

Holdings, Ltd, purportedly designating Morgan Guaranty Trust as the depository ofthe corporation's

funds and purportedly designating Neschis to be the sale authorized signatory. These documents

were signed by Mrs, Gelman as a result of fraud and undue influence after she was no longer of

sound mind.

41. On or about November 18, 1997, Mrs. Gelman purportedly executed an

irrevocable assignment of her interests in an entity called Telemol1t Holdings, Limited (which had

been fanned by Jacques Gelman with the assistance ofSidney Cohn to receive certain proceeds from

his sllccessful films) to the Waterford Settlement Trust. The effect of the assigrunent was to transfer

substantial sums of the Gelmans' rnoney to Neschis's exclusive control. The document was
I

pU!1'ortedly executed mOre than two years after Dr. Plum's conclusion in March 1995 that Mrs,

Gelman "lacks testamentary mental capacity," as described above in paragraph 23. Mrs. Gdman1s

signature on this trust instrument was fbudulently procured.

42. Between December 1998 and December 1999, the Inter Vivos Tnlst

controlled by Neschis received distributions froni the Waterford Settlement Trust totaling in excess

of $11 million. Records ()f any transfers after December 1999 are presently unavailable to plaintiff.

The Fraud"lent 1992 Ammdments to the Anturia Foundation By~Laws

43, In or about April 1992, Neschis caused Mrs. Gelman to travel to Zurich to

nl.eet with representatives of Credit Suisse and/or Fides, the asset management company responsible

for administering the Anturia Foundation. At the time of this trip, Dr. Madeline-Claire Levis, an
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employee of Fides primarily responsible for administration ofthe A..nturia Foundation, fanned the

opinion that Mrs, Gelman was no longer of sound mind.

44. In June 1992, Neschis inquired of Dr. Levis conceming the procedures for

making changes to the By-Laws of the Anturia Foundatiol1. Specifically, she asked whether a letter

signed by Mrs. Gelman would be sufficient.

45. On at least two occasions prior to October 1992, Neschis and others, including

Littman, discussed making changes to the By-Laws pfthe Anturia Foundation. Neschis and Littman

decided upon the changes to be made to the 1991 By·Laws. Specifically, they decided to increase

the share of Littman, decrease the share of the Jung family and include Diamond as a. beneficiary,

In addition, Neschis decided to eliminate all but Qne of the Ge1m<lns' charitable beneficiaries,

inc lltding the Weizmann Institute, and instead directed the shares previoui;]y allocated to the

charitable beneficiaries to the Testamentary Trust. The only charitable beneficiary to remain a

beneficiary after the requested changes would be the Metropolitan Museum of Art.

46, Neschis thereafter fraudulently obtained Mrs. Gelmanls signature on a letter

to the Trustees of the .A.llturia Foundation dated June 5, 1992 which purported to iustnlct the

Foundation Trustees to make changes to the 1991 By-Laws. This letter was signed by Mrs. Gelman
I

tlllder duress and after she was no longer of sound mind, Nescllis transmitted the letter of

instructions to Dr. Levis and asked that the requested changes be made.

47. Dr. Levis had seriOlls misgivings about making the changes to the by-laws

requested in the written instructio115 based on the facts that: a) Mrs, Gelman had never requested

changes other than. in person, in hcr own handwriting, b) the requested changes were dramatically
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different from the Gelmans' intentions during the ten years since the Anturia Foundation was

created j and c) Dr. Levis had concluded, during her meeting with Mrs. Gelman in April 1992, that

Mrs. Gelman was no longer mentally competent. As a result, Dr, Levis refused to make the

requested changes without a satisfactory explanation of the unusual circumstances.

48. Defendant Neschis refused Ito provide any explanation, and instead became

angry and threatened to withdraw the Anturia Foundation's funds from Credit Suisse Bank if the

changes were not made imm.ediately. Tn addition, Neschis called upon her longstanding family

fiiend, Dr. Staehelin, who was one ofthc Foundation Trustees, and asked him to exert his influence

to compel Dr. Levis to make the requested changt;s.

49. As a result of this threat, and Dr. Stachelin's influence, Dr, Levis agreed to,

or was compelled to, process the requested changes.

50, Fritz HCiclmer, a Director of Credit Suisse who had known the Gelrnans since

the early 1970's, 1eamed of the proposed changes to the Antllna by-laws and became concerned that

the substantial increase to Littman was Inconsisteh.t whh what he knew to be the Gelmans' prior

intentions. Like Dr, Levis, he became concemed that something was wrong and in or about October

1992, he personally traveled to Mexico to meet with Mrs. Gelman to discuss the matter. Based on

his meeting with Mrs. Gelman, whom he had known for many years, he concluded that she was no

longer of sound tllind, Mr, Hckhncr telephoned Mrs. Gelman again in December 1992. Based on

this telephone conversation, Mr. HClchner confirmed his conclusion that the change to the by-laws

to leave a substantial percentage to Littman was not Mrs. Gelman!s intention.
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51. In or about October 1992, Neschis presented to the Antllria Foundation

Trustees a revised letter dated September 29, 1992 purportedly containing written instructions from

Mrs, Gelman cOl1ceming slightly different amendments to the by-laws of the Anturia Foundation.

SpecificallY, this letter purported to remove all charitable beneficiaries from the by-laws, including

the Weizmal1.l1 Institute and the Metropolitan Museum of Art) and instead directed to the

Testamentary Trust the shares previoLlsly allocated to the charitable beneficiaries. The amendments

set forth in the letter included:

a, Eliminating the Wcizrnann Institute, plaintiffhereil1) as a beneficiary of the
Anturia Foundation;

b. Reducing the interest of members of the lung family in the assets of the
Anturia Foundation from approximately 37% to approximately 5%;

c, Increasing the interest of Littman in the assets of the Anturia Foundation
from approximately 1% to approximately 31 %;

d. Adding Diamond a~ a beneJiciary of approximately 3% of the assets of the
Anturia Foundation;

e. Adding Rita Sultan Braunstein as a beneficiary of approximately Y2 of 1% of
the assets of the Anturia Foundation; and

f Adding the Testanlentary Trust as a beneficiary of approximately 57% of the
assets of the A.nturia Foundation.

52. Thereafter, on or about October 19, 1992, the Anturia Foundation Trustees

issued amended by~laws reflecting thc changes requested by Neschis (the "October 19, 1992 By-

Laws"). Neschis llsed her family's longstanding and close relationship with Dr. Staehelin, then a

trustee of the Antuna Foundation, to help her accomplish her unlawful ends.

53. Following the December 19?2 telephone conversation between Mr. Hoehner

and Mrs. Gelman, Neschis leamed of Mr. H6chnel"s investigation into Mrs. Gelman's mental
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capacity and intentions. I.n or about January 1993, Neschis traveled to Zurich with her law partner~

Steven Hyman, to complain to Dr. Staehelin and his partner, Dr. Escher, about Mr. Htichner's

investigation and Dr. Levis' resistance to making the requested changes. Mr. Hoehner and Dr, Levis

were summoned to the meeting and were pressured to stop asking questions about Mrs. Gelman.

Neschis threatened to remove the assets of the Anturia Foundation from Fides if Mr. Hochner and

Dr. Levis did not cease their investigation,

54. Tn fact, the letters t"efen-ed to above in paragraphs 46 an.d 51 were signed
I

under duress and undue influence and at a time when Mrs. Gelman was not of sound mind.

55. The Weizmann Institute was removed as a benet1ciary of the Anturia

Foundation in utter disregard of the wishes and intentions of Mr, and Mrs, Gelman, and solely as

a result of the fraudulent conduct ofNcschis, Littman and others and their undue influence over Mrs

Gelman, The rightful share of the Antlll'ia Foundation assets intended for plaintiff Weizmann

Institute was eliminated and the same share was diverted to the Testamentary Tn.lSt.

,Oiv{rsjou of Income from Anturjp EQIJUgatiou

56, In April 1992 and continuing through 1998, Nesehis caused substantial

distributions to be made from the assets of the A~lturia Foundation to herself or for her personal

benefi t. These distributions were not authorized by Mrs. Gelman and were fraudulently obtained

by Neschis and Littman.

57. By handwritten note dated April 30, 1992, which is purportedly signed by

Mrs. Gelman, Neschis directed a representative of Credit Suisse to "arra.nge for the immediate

transfer to [Mrs. Gelman's] Credit Suisse, New York account of $150,000 (U.S.)" from the accounts
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of the Anturia Foundation and/or fl'om accounts held for the Gelmans. In the same note, Neschis

directed Credit Suisse to send all future interest earned on the Antuna Foundation funds, and/or Mrs.

Gelman's funds, directly to Mrs, Gelman's Credit Suisse account in New York. These instructions

were followed by Credit Suisse, and the requested distributions were made,

58, Available bank records for Mrs. Gelman's account at Credit Suisse New York

reflect at least the following distributions received from Credit Suisse Zurich: $198,000 on

Novel11ber 30, 1992; $61,700 on January 28, 1993; $152,500 on March 1, 1993; $154,600 on June

1, ]993; $159,400 on AUgllst 2,1993; $245,600 on September 2,1993; $216,000 011 November 15,

1993; $126,000 011 February 22,1994; $175,000 on May 27,1994; $175,000 on July 27,1994;

$290,000 on August 30, 1994; $277,000 on November 30, 1994; and $272,000 all February 28,

1995, Other similar distributions were made periodically, records of which are presently unavailable

to plaintiff I11 that thel"e was over $30 million in Antuna Foundation accounts in ]992, and interest

payments were made to the Gelman accounts in New York fro111 1992 to 1998, interest eamed and

sent to Mrs. Gelman's account at Credit Suisse in New York is believed to be in excess of $10
I

million,

59, Pursuant to the powers of attomey refen'ed to above and other instruments

or practices presently unknown to plaintiff, Neschis and Littman had access to the funds in Mrs.

Gelman's account at Credit Suisse in New York and converted said funds to their own use.

60, As a result of the provision in the Last Valid By-Laws of the Anturia

Foundation giving the Weizmann Institute 20% of the assets of said Foundation at the time of Mrs.

Gelman's death, Weizmann Institute had a 20% interest in these converted funds.
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Creation of Inter Vivos Trust and 1998 Amendment to Dy-Laws

61. On or about November 18, 1997, Neschis and Littman fraudulently caused
I

Mrs, Gelman to execute a tmst instrument purporting to create the Jacques and Natasha Gelman

Trust (the "Inter Vivos Trust"). Neschis and Diamond were named as a co~trustees of the Inter

Vivos Trust. In addition to commissions, the Trustees are authorized to perform professional

services for the Inter Vivos TlUst at their regular rates. The Trustees are also expressly authorized

to arbitrate and settle claims on behalf of the Inter Vivos Trust. The Tnlstees are expressly excused

from filing inventories and periodic accountings in any court. The Trustees may spend the trLlst

assets "in their sale and abSOlute discretion" "for use exclusively within the United States for

religious, charitable, scientific, literary or educational purposes or for the prevention of cruelty to

children or animals," This provision is substantially different fro111 the provision creating a

charitable testamentary trust in Mrs. Gehuan's will~ prior to 1993.

62. As a result of these provisions, there is no one likely to challenge the

administration of the Inter Vivos Trust. The New York Surrogate's Court wmJ1d not ordinarily

assert jurisdiction over an inter vivos trust in connection with adm.inistration of the estate, and has

in fact declined to do so with respect to the Inter Vivos Trust.

63, The above-referenced trust instrument is not properly verified, Mrs.

Gelrnan)s execution of the instrument was purpOliedly witnessed by Ncschis and a witness whose

signature is lltterly illegible. The witness whose signature is illegible is believed to be Littman. The

illegible signature is not verified. Mrs. Gelman's signature is not verified by the notary public.

Instead, the notary public attests, with respect to MIls, Gelman's signature, only that Neschis came

before him and that Neschis stated to him that Neschis saw Mrs. Gelman execute the instrument.
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64. According to Neschis, the trust instrument was executed by Mrs. Gelman in

Mexico 011 November 18,1997. Neschis contends that she was in Mexico on November 18,1997

to witness the execution, N eschis further contends that she traveled to the United States from

Cuemavaca, Mexico on the same day and appeared before the notary public on November 18, 1997

to verify her signature as a witness and to provide the highly ilTegular verification of Mrs. Gelman's

signature provided above. It is significant to note that the trust instntment, as well as the

vcri.fications, are peculiarly silent with respect to the fact that the instrument was signed in Mexico.

65. Neschis did not actually wi.tness Mrs. Gelman's signature in Mexico and

return to New York to nppear before a notary public1the same day. Rather, the trust instrument wllS

falsely and fraudulently created by Neschis and Littman.

66. IfMl's. Gelman signed this document, it was signed under duress and undue

influence and at a time when Mrs. Gelman was not of sound mind. The document was purpoliedly

executed more than two years after Dr. Plum's conclusion in March 1995 that Mrs. Gelman "lacks

testamentary mental capacity," as described above in paragraph 23. Mrs. Gelman'S signature 011 this

trust instrument was fraudLllcntly prooured, and Neschis' and Littm.an's execl,ltion of this document

as witnesses of Mrs. Gelman's signature was false and fraudulent.

67. Also on or aboLlt November 18, 1997, Neschis fraudulently caused Mrs.
I

Gelman to sign a letter sent by Neschis to the Anturla Foundation requesting additional changes to

the by-laws. The letter requested that the Inter Vivos Trust be substituted for the Testamentary Trust

as the beneficiary of 57% of the assets of the Foundation. The letter also advised the Foundation

that Elizabeth lung had died, and thus that, pursuant to the terms of the by-laws, her 1% share should

be distlibuted to the Inter Vivos Trust instead. These changes were made and the by-laws amended
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on January 27,1998 (the "January 27,1998 By-Laws"). Under the January 27, 1998 By~Laws, the

Inter Vivos Trust was entitled to receive 58% of the assets of the Anturia Foundation.

68. If Mrs, Gelman signed the letter referred to above in paragraph 67, it was

signed ~ll1der duress and undue influence and at a time when Mrs. Gelman was not of sound mind.

69. Ul1der the tenns of the Last Valid By-Laws, the 20% interest to which the

Weizmaml. In!>titute is enthlcd wOlLld be increased by a proportionate share of the interest forfeited

by Elizabeth lung by her death.

70. As a result of the letter referred to above in paragraph 67, in January 1998 the

share of the assets of the Anturia Foundation originally intended for the Weizmann Imtitute was

wrongfully transferred to the Inter Vivos Trust for the persol1al benefit of the Trustees of the Inter

Vivos Trust.

.J:k.f~ndants' Conduct After Mrs. Gelman'!) Death

71. Mrs. Gelman died on May 2, 1998, at the age of 86,

72. The 1993 Will was offeredl for probate by Neschis in May 1998. Neschis

qualified to SCl\le as executor of the Estate of Natasha Gelman and is presently serving in that

capacity. Proceedings relating to administration of the Estate of Natasha. Gelman are ongoing in the

Sun-ogate's COLllt, New York County. Because the Anturia Foundation assets are not pmi of Mrs.

Gelmal1' s New York probate estate, plaintiffs claims herein are not pending before, and will not be

adjudicated by, the Surrogate's Court, New York County,
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73. On or about July 16, 1999, Neschis commenced an arbitration proceeding in

Liechtenstein purportedly against the tnlstees of the Antuna Foundation seeking an award

compelling the trustees to make payment of 58% of the Antuna assets to the Inter Vivos Tmst in

accordance with the JanLlary 27,1998 By-Laws, Plaintiff herein and members of the lung family

were joined in the proceedings as third·party intervenors. A hearing was held and, by decision dated

June 8, 2001, the arbitration panel concluded that the assets of the Anturia. Foundation should be

distributed in accordance with the January 27, 1998 By-Laws.

74, On or about November 9~ 2001, the Inter Vivos Trust received $21,030,000

from the Alituria Foundation assets in accordance with the January 27, 1998 By-Laws.

75. On or about November 9.2001, Littman personally received $11,140,000

frol1l the Anturia Foundation assets in accordance with the January 27, 1998 By~Laws.

76. On or about November 28, ~001, Diamond personally received $1,100,000

from the Anturia Foundation assets in accordance with the January 27, 1998 By-Laws.

77. Since that t.ime, Neschis in her capacity as tnlstee Qfthe Inter Vivos Trust,

has used and expended the trust assets in her absolute discretion~ including to pay her substantial

attomeys fees in this and olher proceedings, and to pay herself trustee's commissions.

78, During the fiscal year ending on November 30, 1999, Neschls caused the Inter

Vivos Trust to pay $217,350 in legal fees and expenses as follows: (a) $29,572 to McLaughlin &

Stenl , LLP (the firm in which Ncschis is currently a partner); (b) $15,223 to Marxer & Partner (the

Liechtenstein law firm that represented Neschis and Diamond in the Liechtenstein arbitration and
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that provided a foreign law affidavit in these proceedings); and (c) $172,555 to Denmm Treu Bond

und Verwaltlmgs-Anstalt (whose role is not presently Imowl1 to plaintiff).

79. DUling the .fiscal year ending on November 30,2000, Neschis caused the [nter

Vivos Trust to pay a total of $296,768 in legal fees and expenses, as follows: (a) $216,403 to

McLaughlin & Stem, LLP (the finn in which Neschis is currently a paliner); (b) $15,000 to Kaye,

Scholer LLP (the firm that represellts Neschis and Diamond in these proceedings); (c) $40,416 to

Marxe1- & Partner (the Liechtenstein law fimlthat represented Neschis and Diamond in the

Liechtenstein arbitration and that provided a foreigr1law affidavit in these proceedings); (d) $15,806

to Weil, Gotshal & Manges (the law finn that provided a U.S. law affidavit for submission in the

Liechtenstein arbitration on hehalf ofNeschis and Diarnond); and (e) $9,143 to Dr. H.L. Bemard

Vischer (whose role is not presently known to plaintiff).

80. DUling the fiscal year endjn~ On November 30,2000, Neschis caused the Inter

Vivos Trust to make the following charitable gifts: (a) $110,000 to the Museo del Ban'io "to

preserve the cultural heritage of Pue110 Ricans," (b) $ 36,000 to the Art Student's Leagues of New

York "to provide education for artists," and (c) $42,360 to the Pratt Institute "to provide education

for artists." These gifts, which were made in the sole and exclusive discretion of Neschis, are not

in accordance with the criteria expressed by Mrs, Gelman for the charitable testamentary tnlst
I

created in her wills prior to 1993, but rather in accordance with the new criteria inserted by Neschis

into Mrs. Gelman's will and the Tnter Vivos Trust after Mrs. Gelman was no longer of sound mind.

81, AIthough more recent information is not presently available to plaintiff, it is

believed [hat Neschis has continued, and continues to the present day, to pay her substantial legal
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fees and expenses, pay themselves commissions, and make substantial gifts from the Inter Vivos

Trust in her sole discretion.

82, Although specific information is not presently available to plaintiff, it is

believed that Neschis has continued, and continues to the present day, to exert wrongful control over

the assets of other Gelman investment entities around the world, including Waterford Settlement
I

Trust, Aldford Holdings, Lirnited, Paramount Holdings, Limited, Telemont Anstalt and other entities

presently unknown to plaintiff.

83. Littman has continued, and ~ontinLles to the present day, to exert wrongful

control over assets properly belonging to Mrs, Gelman, including the Mexican art collection.

Littman has falsely represented himself to be the legitimate curator of the Gclmat1'S Mexican art

collection. In his capacity as president of the Verge! Foundation, he has falsely represented that the

Gelmans intended to give, and gave, their Mexican !llt collection to the Vergel Foundation, Without

proper authority, Littman has exhibited the Gelman's Mexican art collection in ten cities around the

world since Mrs. Gelrrum's death. From April to September 2002, the collection was exhibited at

EI Museo del Ban-io in New York.

84. As set forth in paragraph 80 abOVE\ Neschis cBused the Inter Vivos Tmst to

make a substantial charitable gift to El Musco del Barrio "to preserve the cultural heritage of Puerto

Ricans." Thls gift was made at Littman's direction in furtherance of defendants' continuing

conspiracy to rnaintain control over Mrs. Gelman's assets and conceal their scheme,
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Neschis). Cantinflas and Mr. Gelman shared reve::1ues from certain films through offshore entities

created by Cohn, including Telemont Anstalt) a Liechtenstein trust entity, to which they conveyed

the rights to a number of Cantinflas films, Telemont was owned 65% by Cantinflas and 35% byI

Gelman, The Estate ofCantil1flas has alleged that Neschis fraudulently obtained Mrs. Gelman's

signature on documents dated November 18, 1997 assigning assets held by Telemont to another

offshore entity, the Waterford Settlement Trust, controlled by the Gelmans (and now controlled by

Neschis as executor of Mrs. Gelman's Estate),

88. With respect to each of these situations, Neschis is alleged to have: engineered

suspicious document changes and misappropriated client assets for her own personal benefit. In

each case, Neschis' fraudulent actions took place after the death or disability of the principals to the

transaction, Neschis' succession to her father1s position as counsel for these longtime clients, leaving

Neschis with unfettered access to her client's assets. Indeed, the fraudulent documents alleged to
I

have been crea.ted by Neschis in connection with Tdcl1lont Anstalt were dated the same day as the

fraudulent instnllnent purportedly creating the Inter Vivos Trust as set forth in paragrapJ1 61 and the

fraudulent "letter of instructions" to the Anturia tfLlstces requesting that the Inter Vivos Trust be

substituted as the primary beneficiary as set forth in paragraph 67.

COUNTl

CONVERSION
(Against Defendants Neschis and Littman)

89, Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-88.

90. The Last Valid By-Laws, tog~ther with the Anturia Foundation Charter and

all express and implied understandings hetween thoe Gclmans and the Anturia Foundation, Fides
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I

and/or Credit Suisse, constituted a valid, enforceable contract concerning the disposition of the

assets of the Foundation,

91. The October 19, 1992 By-Laws and all subsequent by-laws were executed

as a result of fraud, duress and undLle influence and do not constitute a valid or enforceable contract.

The October 19, 1992 By~Laws and all subsequent by-laws did not validly revoke or supersede the

Last Valid By-Laws.

92. Plaintiff Weizmann Institute is a third-party beneficiary of the contract

comprised of the Last Valid By-Laws, the Charter and/or all understandings and assurances provided

to the Gelrnans, pursuant to which the Weizmann Il~stitute is entitled to distribution of not less than

20% of the assets of the Anturia Foundation upon Mrs. Gelman's death. Accordi.ngly, the contract

comprised of the Last Valid By-Laws, the Chartet and/or all understandings and assurances provided

to the Gelman!\ gave plaintiff a valid and ellforceable interest in not less than 20% of the assets of

the Anturia Foundation.

93, Neschis and Littman improperly converted the Weizmann Institl,.lte's interest

in the assets of the Anturia Foundation for the benefit of defendants by causing the ex.ecution of the

October 19, 1992 By-Laws and January 27, 1998 ByyLaws.

94. In addition, Neschis and Littman improperly converted the amounts of interest

eamed on the Anturia. Foundation assets that they fraudulently transferred to the Credit Suisse

account in New York to which they had access. The total interest diverted by Neschis and Littman

is estimated to be at least $10 million, and thus plaintiff Weizmann Institute's share of such interest

would be 110t less than $2 million.
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95. As a result of the wrongful Gonduct ofNeschis and Littman, plaintiffhas been

deprived of its rightful interest in not less than 20% ofthe full and undepleted assets of the Anturia

Foundation under the tenns of the Last Valid By-Laws. Accordingly, plaintiff has been damaged

in the amount of funds improperly converted, which is not less than $11 million,

COUNT II

TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH CONTRACTUAL RELATIONS
(Against Defendants Neschls and Littman)

96. Plainti ff repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-95.

97, The Last Valid By-Laws, together with the Anturin Foundation Charter and

all express and implied understandings between the Gelmans and the AntLlria Foundation, Fides

and/or Credit Suisse, conMituted a valid, enforceahle contract.

98. Plaintiff WeizmanJ1 Institute was a third-party benetlciary of the contract

comprised of the Last Valid By-Laws, Charter and all understal1dings and assurances provided to

the Gelmans, pursuant to which the Weizmann In~titutc is entitled to distribution of not less than

20% of the assets "fthe Anturia Foundation upon Mrs. Gelman's death.

99. At all relevant times, Neschis and Littman were aware of the existence and

provisions of the Last Valid By-Lnws. Specifically, Neschis and Littman were aware of the fact that

under the Last Valid By-Laws; the Weizmanl1 Institute was entitled to receive not less than 20% of

the assets 0 f the Anturia Foundation.
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100. Neschis and Littman intentionally and wrongfully procured and effected the

elimination of the Last Valid By-Laws and plaintiff's rights thereunder by fraudulently obtaining the

execution of the October 19. 1992 By-Laws and/or the January 27, 1998 By-Laws.

101. In addition, Neschis and Littman improperly converted the amounts of interest
I

earned on the Anturia Foundation assets that they fraudulently transferred to the Credit Suisse

account in New York to which they had access, The total interest divel1ed by Neschis and Littman

is estimated to be at least $10 million, and thus plaintiffWeizmann Institute's share of such interest

would be not less than $2 million.

102. As a result of the wrongtlil conduct ofNeschis and Littman, plailitiffhas been

deprived of its rightful interest in not less than 200/,.1 ofthc full and undepleted assets of the Anturia

Foundation under the terms ofthe Last Valid By-Laws. Accordingly, plaintiff has been damaged

in the a.mount of not less than 20% of the funds improperly diverted plus interest, which is not less

than $11 million.

COUNTS III AND IV

ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO RICO COUNTS

103. As set forth herein, Neschis and Littman engaged in a scheme to defraud Mrs.

Gelman designed to gain control over her substantial wealth and to divert her money and property

to their personal use and benefit Mrs. Gelman was vulnerable to defendants' scheme because she

had no close family members to protect her interests and slIpervise her affairs as her mental

condition deteriora.ted. Moreover, as Neschis and Littman understood, Mrs. Gelman had no direct

descendants expecting to inherit her large estate, and it was unlikely that the charitable institutions
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to which she had left large bequests would ever dirwover defendants' fraudulent acts. Beginning in

1990 or 1991, Neschis, Littman and others took, advantage of Mrs. Gelman's declining mental

condition by deceiving Mrs. Gelman into believing that they would protect her interests, and thereby

falsely earned her trust and confidence.

104. In furtherance of the fraudulent scheme, Neschis, Mrs. Gelman's attomey,

and Littman, Mrs, Gelman's close personal companion, assumed control over Mrs, Gelman's

financial affairs, including het' estate plan and the Antllria Foundation, without her pennission, and

created fraudulent documents purporting to can'Y out Mrs. Gelman's intent but which actually

furthered the fraudulent scheme. Essential to the scheme was defendants' agreement to conceal

from everyone, other than the participants in the scheme, the truth about Mrs. Gelman's tack of

melital capacity, and to exclude all others from Mrs. Gelman's ilU1el" circle. Tbl'ough their acts of
I

fraud and concealment, Neschis and Littman became Mrs, Gelman's sole advisors and caretakers,

and thereby cemented themselves as the exclusive custodians of Mrs, Gelman's worldwide assets

for the purpose of converting those (issets to their personal lise and benefit.

A. Person

105. Neschis, Littman, the Inter Vivos Trust and the Testamentary Trust are each

a "person" as defined in 18 U.$ ,c. ~ 1961 (3) because each is an entity capable of holding legal

and/or beneficial interest in property.

B. En terprlsl:;

106. At all times relevant herein, I:fefendants operated an "enterprise" within the

meaning of 18 U.S.c. § 1961(4) comprised of Mrs, Gelman's identity and estate, both before and

after her death, including her interest in and rights to direct the disposition of the assets of Anturia
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Foundation, her interests in and right to direct the trusts purportedly created by Mrs. Gelman, and,

after May 1998, her probate estate.

C. The Enterprise Period

107. The Enterprise Period began in 1990 or 1991 when Neschis and/or Littman

gained control over Mrs. Gelman's identity and affairs. and continued after Neschis and/or Littman

gained control over Mrs. Gelman's probate estate and trusts, and continues to the present day.

D. Pattern QLRucke.teering Activity

108. The acts described in thel preceding paragraphs constitute '~pattern of

racketeering activity" as that term is defined in 18 U.S.C, § 1961 (1), (5), Specifically, on numerous

occasions, Ncschis and Littman took advantage ofMn;. Gelman's lack of mental capacity to obtain

the fraudulent execut.ion of documents, including letters of instnlctions, a will, powers of attomey

and a trust instrument, without authority from Mrs. Gelman, that were designed to change Mrs,

Gelman's financial affairs and estate plan, and divert her assets to defendants 'awn benefit and to

depJ;ve her legitimate beneflciaries of their i11tended shares of Mrs. Gelman's assets upon her death.

Each of these acts was committed by Neschis and/or Littman, and had similar results, injuring

numerous separate victims, including plaintiffWeizmann Institute, and thus constituted a "pattem

of racketeering activity."

109. The scheme alleged herein includes fraudulent manipUlation ofvirtually every

aspect of Mrs. Gelman's finances from 1992 until her death in 1998. Defendants altered her New

York will, her Mexican will, the dispositive provisions of the Anturia Foundation, her plans for her

Mexican art collection, her interests in entities fanned by her late husband to receive substantial
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royalties fi·ol'l1 his films, and created a new inter vivos tnlSt to circumvent the testamentary trust that

had been included in Mrs, Gelman's wills since at least 1968.

110. Each and every one of these manipulations was effected through the creation
I

of false and fraudulent documents purportedly signed by Mrs. Gelman and passed offby Neschis

and Littman as the true wishes and intentions of Mrs, Gelman, Each and everyone of these

manipulations substantially benefitted Neschis and Littman and ultimately diverted virtually all of

Mrs, Gelman1s substantial wealth originally located around the world to the control of these

defendants. It is difficult to imagine a more comprehensive pattern of fraUdulent conduct.

1I I, The acts described in the preceding paragraphs pose a threat of continued

criminal activity, Specifically, Neschis continues to practice law in the State of New York on behalf

of clients seeking advice and representation in cotU1ection with estate plarming. Many of these

clients had been clients of her late father, Sidney Cohn j Esq. and for that reason place their tnlst and
Iconfidence in Neschis. Neschis has demonstrated a pattem of manipulating her clients' assets for

her own benefit through the use of false and fraudulent documents prepared by her.

112. In addition, as set fOlih above, Neschis continues to the present day to expend

the assets of the Inter Vivos Trust for her own personal benefIt.

E. FQrei~n CQmmerc~

113. In carrying out their scheme to defraud, defendants engaged in monetary and

conunercial transactions that took place in New York, Switzerland, LieChtenstein, Mexico, England

and elsewhere around the world.
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(1) Mail and Wire Fraud (18 U.S.c. §§ 1341, 1343»)

114. For the purpose of executing or attempting to execute the aforesaid schemes

al1d aliifices to defraud, throughout the Enterprise Period and as alleged more [\-lIly above;

defendants committed acts of mail fraud by causing numerous separate letters and other documents

to be delivered via the United States mails. and acts of wire fraud by causing interstate wire

commlll1lcations to be transmitted between New York, Switzerland, Liechtenstein, Mexico and

elsewhere, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 343, including but not limited to the following:

115. On or about March 10, 19)2, Littman transmitted by fax from Mexico to

Neschis in New York 8 document setting forth .~I proposal for the disposition of Mrs. Gelman's
I

Mexican art collection, including the lifetime appoimment of Littman and Neschis as members of

an oversight committee with re~ponsihjlity to supervise the exhibition off the collection. The

proposal did not ref1ect Mrs. Gelman's wishes or intentions but instead reflected Littman's own

intel1tioliS and his participation with Neschis in the fraudulent scheme to gain control of Mrs.

Gelman's assets, including llie Mexican art collection.

116, On or about March 26, 1992; Littman transmitted by fax from Mexico to

Neschis in New York a list of the works of art comprising Mrs. Gelman's Mexican art collection.

This document was prepared and transmitted in nll1.herance of the fraudulent scheme to gain control

of Mrs. Gelman's assets, including the Mexican art collection.
I

117. On or about APlil 15, 1992, Neschis transmitted via the United States mails

from Ncw York to Switzerland a letter to Dr, William Staehelin purportedly signed by Mrs. Gelman

fraudulently authorizing the tnlstees of the Antuna Foundation to release to Neschis "all documents
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and records pertaining to the Antuna Foundation Limat trust controlled by Fides, including but 110t

limited to, the trust instrument and all financial records pertaining to the trust. This letter also

authorizes you to discuss with her all matters pertaining to the trust."

118. On or abollt April 21) 1992, Littman telephoned from Mexico to a Richard

Dl1111ap in Los Angeles, California, to request financial records relating to Mrs. Gelman's interests

in companies holding her late husband's interests in the films he had produced during his lifetime.

Li ttman sought these records for the purpose of discovering, and taking control of, Mrs, Gelman's

interests in these entities.

119. On or about April 30, 1992, Neschis transmitted via the United States mails

from New York to Switzerland a Idter of instructions to Credit Suisse, Zurich purportedly

authorized by Mrs. Gelman that fraudulently directed Credit Suisse to pay all interest eamed on the

Anturia Foundation and other accounts of Mrs. Gelman directly to an account in Mrs. Gelman's

name at Credit Suisse in New York, which was controlled by Neschis. Tn response to the fraudulent

letter of instructions, Credit Suisse thereafter distributed interest from the Anturia Foundat.ion and

other accounts directly to Neschis' control. Each distribution of inten~~st was made by wire

tl'ansmisslon from Switzerland to New York,

t 20. In or about May 18, 1992, Littman transmitted by fax from Mexico to Neschis

in New York an affidavit purportedly signed by Mrs. Gelman in COlll1cction with certain litigation

that had been commenced against Mrs. Gelman and others in the Superior Court of the State of

Califomia, County of Los Angeles, relating to her late husband's interests in films he had produced

during his lifetime. The affidavit was signed by Mrs. Gelman after she was no longer of sound
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mind. The affidavit was prepared by Neschis in furtherance of the fraudulent scheme to consolidate

control over Mrs. Gelman's assets.

121. On or about September 29, 1992~ Neschis transmitted via the United States

mails a letter of instnlctions to the trustees of the Anturia Foundation purportedly authorized by Mrs.

Gelman that fraudulently instructed the trustees ofthe Anturia Foundation to amend the by-laws to

include the Testamentary Trust as a beneficiary of 57% of the trust assets, and to eliminate the

Weizmann Institute as a beneficiary and deprive it of its rightful interest in not less than 20% of the

tnlst assets.

122. On or about October 9, 1992, Neschj~ communicated by telephone with an

official of Credit Suisse in New York, and confinned by letter transmitted by telecopier the same

day, falsely stating that "Mrs. Gelman has <lskcd me to il1strUC[ Credit Suisse to transfer the sum of

$20,000 to [the account of Aldford Holdings Limited at] Morgan Guaranty." In accordance with

these false instructions, the sum of $20,000 was thereby transfen-ed to Neschis' control.

I
123. On or about December I 5, 1992~ Littman transmitted by fax fro111 Mexico to

Neschis in New York a. memorandum pUI1'ortedly recording a visit by a representative of Credit

Suisse to Mrs. Gelman at her home in Mexico City. The memorandum falsely and fraudulently

recorded the events that transpired during that mectil1g, and was intended to~ and did, conceal

defendants' fraudulent conduct, which allowed defendants to continue to pursue their fraudulent

scheme.

124, On or about December 17, 1992, Littman transmitted via the U11ited States

mails from Mexico to Neschis in New York a "corrected" page of this false memorandum and a
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letter of instructions purportedly presented to Mrs. Gelman for signature by the Credit Suisse

representative,

125, On or abotlt January 19, 1993, Littm.an transmitted by fax from Mexico to

Neschis in New York a document setting forth an altemate proposal for the disposition of Mrs,

Gelman's Mexican art collection~ including the lifetime appointment of Littman and Neschis as

members of an oversight committee with responsibIlity to supervise the exhibition off the collection,

The proposal did not reflect Mrs, Gelman's wishes or intentions but instead reflected Littman's own

intentions and his participation with Neschis in the fraudulent scheme to gain control of Mrs.

Gelman's assets, including the Mexican art collection.

126. On or about January 25, 1993. Neschis cOlnm.unicated by telephone from New

York with Juan Pablo de la Calle P, in Mexico to inquire about the possibility of appointing Littman
I

as trustee to hold the Gelman's Mexican art collection, Neschis specifically inqlllred whether

Littman would be pennitted to serve as tmstee in light of the fact that he was not a Mexican citizen,

This communication wa~ made in furtherance of tile fraUdulent scheme to gain control over Mrs.

Gelman's assets,

127. On or about April 19, 1993, Neschis transrnitted by the United States mails

to attomeys in Gucmsey, c.r., a proxy purportedly signed by Mrs, Gelman in her capacity as holder

of 5,000 shares of Paramount Holdings, Limited, granting ce11ain Bermudian attol11.eys her proxy

to vote her shares at the al1l1ual meeting of the company, This proxy was furnished in fi.lrtherance

of the fraudulent scheme to control Mrs, Gelman's assets.
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128. On or about April 23 j 1993, Littman transmitted by fax from Mexico to

Neschis in New York instructions conceming Mrs, Gelman's bank account at Bancorner in Mexico.

This transmission was part of the fraudulent scheme to gain control over Mrs. Gelman's assets,

including funds located in Mexico.

129. On or about June 14, 1993, Neschis transmitted via the United States mails

a letter of instructions to Dr, Madeline-Claire LevIs purportedly signed by Mrs. Gelman requesting

that Dr, Martin Escher be appointed as a trustee of the Anturia Foundation in the place of Dr.

Staehelin. Dr. Staehelin was a longtime friend and acquaintance ofNeschis' father, Sidney Co1m j

but had become old and infinu and was no longer able to assist Neschis with her fraudulent scheme.
I

Dr. Escher was a partner of Dr. Staehe/in. Neschis added him to the A.nturia Board of Trustees to

preserve her iI1f111ence over Anturia in furtherance of the fraudulent scheme.

130. On or about June 21, 1993:. Littman transmitted via the United States mails

from Mexico to Neschis in New York a letter enc[o~ing documents he "found in Natasha's safe," to

wit, a letter from one Richard Dunlap that "tall(s of an account in Curacao we arc unaware of," and

"the registratioli of Natasha's Mexican Will with the proper authorities in 1989," Littman was

repol1ing to Neschis on the progress of the scheme to defraud, specifically the results of his theft of

important financial documents from Mrs. Gelman's safe.

131. On or about July 21,1993, Littman transmitted by fax from Mexico to

Ncschis in New York the name and address of Carlos Hank Gonzalez, fonnerly a political official

in Mexico. According to Mr. LittmUl\ Mr. Gonzalez is "a very corrupt figure." Although the

precise rote of Mr. Gonzalez, and the significance ofthe fact that Mr. Littman ptovided his contact
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infonnation to Ms, Neschis j is not presently known to plaintiff, it is believed that this infonnation

was provrded to Neschis in furtherance of the fraudulent scheme.

132. On or about July 26, 1993, Neschis callsed her assistant. Rita Sultan

Braunstein, to transmit by fax from New York to a representative of Columbia Pictures in Burbank,

Califomia, a letter purportedly authorizing Columbia Pictures to "release all documents and

infonnation pertaining to the distributions from the Cantinflas Films to Janet Neschis and/or Steve
I

Hyman, Mrs. Gelman's attorneys, and to discuss any matters with them." This letter was part of the

fraudulent scheme to gail1 control of Mrs. Gelman's assets.

133. On or about August 9, 1993, Neschis caused Joanna First, a legal assistant

employed by her fi1111, to transmit by the United States mails from New York 10 a representative of

Warner Brothers il1 Bmbank, Califomia, a letter purportedly authorLdng Warner Brothers to "send

all statements and checks for Telemont Anstalt to Janet C. Neschis." This letter was part of the

fraUdulent scheme to gain control of Mrs. Gelman's assets.

134. On or about August 23,1993, Neschis transmitted by Federal Express a letter

to Carlos Se~ma, Esq., a Mexican attomey in M,xico, requesting English translations of Mrs.

Gelmall's existing Mexican will and Power of Attorney. Neschis sought these documents for the

purpose of engineering fraudulent amendments to these documents in furtherance of the scheme to

gain control over Mrs. Gelman's assets.

135. On or about September 10, 1993, Neschis transmitted by the United States

mails a letter of instructiol"'lS purportedly signed hy Mrs, Gelman to a bank official at Morgan

Guaranty in New York that fraudulently directed MOrgan Guaranty to increase the monthly
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distribution from Mrs. Gelman's account to an account maintained by Rita Sultan Braunstein,

Neschis' assistant, to $6,000 per 1110nth. In response to the fraudulent letter ofinstructions, Morgan

Guaranty paid $6,000 per month beginning on October l, 1993 from Mrs, Gelman's accounts

directly to Neschis ' control.

136. On or about October 5, 1993, Littman transmitted by fax from BelgiulU to

Neschis in New York a copy of a letter from the San Francisco Museum of Modem Art concerning

exhibition of works of art frolll Mrs. Gelman's collections, with a cover letter asking Neschis to

respond to the request. On or about the same date, Littman transmitted a response by fax from

Belgium to museum officials in San Francisco advising them that "the matter is settled" and Neschis

had already written to them, This cOlTespondence demonstrates the control exerted by Neschis and

Littman over Mrs. Gelman's art collections,

13 7. On or abollt December 6, 1993, Littman transmitted by fax from Mexico to

Neschis in New York a statement from Bancomer in Mexico relating to Mrs. Gehnan's account

there. This transmission was pat1 of the fraudulent schem.e to gain control over Mrs. Gelman's

assets, including funds located in Mexico.

138. On or about August 15 j 1994, Littman transmitted via the United States mails

from Mexico to Ncschis in New York invoices reflecting charges against Mrs. Gelman's American

Express account relating to a trip to San Francisco and Los Angeles on which Littman had taken

Mrs. Gelman. On or about August 30, 1994, Littman transmitted via the United States mails from

Mexico to Neschis in New York proofofa refund to th.e American Express account. On or about

September 12, 1994, Littman transmitted via the United States mails fi'om Mexico to Neschis in

New York plane tickets {or Ml"S. Gelman and a domestic employee to rctU111 to Mexico from New
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York. These transactions reflect the close conspiracy between Neschis and Littman in connection
I

with management of Mrs, Gelman's financial affairs and concealment of Mrs. Gelman's lack of

mental capacity, which continued until Mrs. Gelman's death.

139. On or about March 23, 1995, Neschis transmitted via ovemight courier from

New York to an attorney in Los Angeles a "writ" pUfp0l1edly signed by Mrs. Gelman in connection

with an estate litigation involving the estate afMario Moreno Reyes, also known as Cantinflas; the

former partner of Jacques Gelnl<:ln. According to Neschis' description of the document in the

transmittal letter, its effect was to assert Mrs. Gelman's ownership of35% of the Cantinflas films

in a dispute with the Cantinflas estate over ownership of the films. Neschis procured Mrs. Gelman's

signature on this document in f\..lliherance of the scheme to control of Mrs. GclrJ1an's assets.

140. On or about December 30, 1997, Neschis transmitted via facsimile and

overnight courier a letter of instructions to the trustees of the Anturia Foundation purportedly

authorized by Mrs, Gelman that fraudulently instructed the trustees of the Anturia Foundation to

amend the bymlaws to inclLlde the Inter Vivos Trust as a beneficiary of 58% of the trust assets.

141. On or about July 16, 1999, Neschis transmitted via the United States mails

to the trustees of the Anturia Foundation in Liechtenstein a letter demanding arbitration over the

fraudulent claim of the Inter Vivos Trust to 58% of the assets of the Anturia Foundation in

accordance with the January 27, 1998 By-Laws. The purpose of this letter was to give effect to the

January 27, 1998 By-Laws and thereby divert to defendants' control the assets of the f\nturia
I

Foundation that should rightfully have been distributed to Mrs. Gelman's legitimate beneficiaries,

including plaintiff Weizmann Institute,
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(2) Transportation and Receipt of Converted Funds in Foreign Commerce,
and Inducement to Travel In Foreign Commerce in Furtherance of
Scheme to Defraud (18 U.S.C. §§ 2314,2315)

142. In or about April 1992, Ne~chis caused Mrs, Gelman to travel to Zurich to

meet with representatives of Credit Suisse andJor Fides l in furtherance of the scheme to defraud and

for the purpose of concealing the scheme. SpecificallYl the purpose of the trip was to create an

illusion that Mrs. Gelman sought to make changes to the Anturia Foundation by-laws of her own

free will at a time when she was no longer of sound mind or free of fraud and undue influence,

143, In or about April 1992, following Neschis' direction, Credit Suisse transferred

$150,000 and interest payments fi'0111 Mrs. Gelman's Credit Suisse accounts in Switzerland to Mrs.

Gelman's Credit Suisse aCC01.ll1ts in New York. Pursuant to fraudulent powers of attomey, Neschis

and Littman had access to the funds in Mrs, Gelman's New York accounts. Neschis and Littman

received these fLmds knowing that they had been inlproperly converted from Mrs. Gelman's Swiss

acco unts.

144. At variOllS times between 1992 arid Mrs. Gelman's death, Littman caused Mrs.

Gelman to travel internationally and within the United States, and accompanied her on slIch travels,

in fUliherance of the fraudulent scheme and for the purpose ofconcealing the scheme, Littman knew

that at the time of these travels, Mrs. Gelman was no longer of sound mind and no longer able to

travel alone or manage her own affairs. The purpose of these trips was to create an illusion that Mrs.

Gelma.n was still mentally competent and/or to bring Mrs. Gelman to New York, Switzerland or

other destinations where her presence was reqUired for the execution of fraudulent documents or

other tran-sactions in furtherance of the fraudulent soheme.
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145. At various times between 1992 and Mrs. Gelman's death, Neschis and Littman

transported in interstate and foreign commerce funds in excess of $5,000 that they knowingly

converted from Mrs. Gelman to be used for their own purposes in futiherance of the fraudulent

scheme.

146. In or about November 2001, Littman and Neschis. in her capacity as a tnlstee

of the Inter Vivos TrLlst, received distributions of funds from the Anturia Foundation in accordance

with the January 27, 1998 By-Laws. The Annnia funds crossed a United States boundary in transit

from Liechtenstein to New York after having been unlawfully converted by defendants. Littman

and Neschis received these funds knowing that thry had been unlawfully converted.

147. Tn or about 2001 and 2002, Littman transported in foreign commerce Mrs.

Gelmailis collcctiol1 of Mexican ati, knowing that he is not the legitimate custodian of said art

collection and knowing the art collection to have been taken by fbl.ld from Mrs. Gelman's Mexican

pmbate estate pursuant to a fraudulent Mexican will created by Neschis and Littman. The Mexican

art collection has a value in excess of $5,000.

COUNT III

VIOLATION OF 18 U.S.c. § 1962(c)
(Against Neschis and Littman)

148. Plaintiff repeats and real1eg~s the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1~147.

149. Neschis and Littman conducted or participated in, and continue to direct and

pal1icipate in. directly and indirectly, the affairs of the enterprise tlu'oLlgh the pattem of racketeering

activity involving predicate acts that include mail fraud, wire fraud, transportation of converted
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funds in foreign cornmerce, receipt of converted funds transported across a United States boundary,

and indLlcement of Mrs, Gelman to travel in foreign commerce in furtherance of defendants' scheme

to defraud.

150. Defendants benefitted and profited j and continue to benefit and profit
j

from

these racketeering acts as alleged in the preceding paragraphs.

15 L Plaintiffhas been injured by reason of defendants' racketeering activities in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(0).

152, As a direct and proximate result of defendants' racketeering activities,
!

plaintiffhas suffered damages as alleged in the prrCeding paragraphs.

153. Under the provisions of 18 U.S.c. § 1964(c), plaintiff is entitled to recover

treble damages, costs of bringing this suit, and atto111ey's fees.
I

COUNrIV
I

VIOLATION OF l' U.S.c. § 1962(d)
(Against Neschl~ and Littman)

154. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1-153.

155. In violation of 18 U.S.c. ~ 1962(d), at all times relevant herein, Neschis and

Littman conspired, al1d continue to conspire, with others, to violate 18 U.S.c. § 1962(c) through a

pattern of racketeering activity.

156. Neschis, Littman and others committed, and continue to commit, numerous

wrongful overt acts, as outlined above in the pattern ofracketeering activity, in furtherance of the

47



JUN-18-2010 09:54 AM BOBROWSKY 0000000000 P.35

conspiracy~ including but not limited to, commencement of arbitration proceedings under false

pretenses to make a wrongful claim of entitlement to 58% of the assets of the Anturia Foundation.

157. Neschis, Littman and others agreed to commit the predicate acts set forth

herein, with knowledge that such acts were part of the pattern of racketeering activity and part of

the scheme to defraud Mrs, Gelman, to the material detriment of plaintiff and the other rightful

beneficiaries of the assets of the Anturia Foundation.

158. As a direct and proximate result of defendants' conspiracy to violate 18

U.S,c. § 1962(c), plaintiff has suffered damages as alleged in the preceding paragraphs,

159. Under the provisions of 18 U.S,c. § 1964(a), plaintiff as an innocent person

is entitled to equitable reliefin the f01111 of restitution and disgorgement of all eamings, profits and

benefits obtained by defel1dants,

160. Under the provisions of 18 N.S.C. § 1964(c). plaintiff is entitled to recover

treble damages, costs of bringing this suit, and attol11cy's fees.

COUNT V

CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST
(Against All Defendants)

161. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1-160.

162. A relationship of trust and confidence existed between Mrs, Gelman and

Neschis, her attomey. and Littman, her close personal companion, By viItue of the foregoing, there
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arose an express or implied promise by Neschis and Littman to carry out Mrs. Gelman's true
I

intentions with respect to, inter alia, the disposition of the assets of the Anturia Foundation.

163. Pursuant to the October 19 j 1992 and/or January 27,1988 By-Laws, the assets

of the AntlU'ia Foundation were transfelTed in derogation of the true intentions of Mrs, Gelman.

164. But for the fi:audulent conduct of Neschis and Littman, which brought about

the October 19,1992 By·Laws and January 27, 1998 By·Laws, the assets ofthr.::: Anturia Foundation

would have been distributed in accordance with Mrs. Gelman's true intentions, as set forth in the

Last Valid By·Laws.

165, As set forth in the Last Valid By-Laws, Mrs, Gelman i11tended to leave not

I
less than 20% of the assets of the Antulia Foundation to the Weizl1.lann 111stitute.

166, As a result of the fraudulent conduct of N eschis and Littman, defendants

received substantially all of the assets of the A..nturia Foundation under such circumstances that they

may not in good conscience retain the beneficial interest.

167. Defendants have been l,.lnj llStly enriched in the amount of the assets of the

Anturia Foundation received by them,

168. In these Ciw.11115tances, equity demands that a constructive trust be created

over the assets of the Anturia Foundation in defendants' possession, and that defendants be

converted into constructive trustees of these fund~ for the benefit of the intended beneficiaries, to

wit, the Weizmann Institute.
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TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH EXPECTANCY OF INHERlTANCE
(Against Defendants Neschls and Littman)

169. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1·168.

170. The Last Valid By~Laws. together with the Anturia Foundation Charter and

all express and implied understandings between the Gelmans and the Anturia FOllndation~ Fides

and/or O'edit Suisse) gave rise to a legitinlate expectancy in plaintiff Weizmann Institute of

receiving not less than 20% of the assets of the Anturia Foundation.

171. At all relevant times, Neschis and Littman were aware of the existence and

provisions of the Last Valid By·Laws. Specifically, Neschis and Littman were aware of the fact that

under the Last Valid By-Laws, the Weizmann Institute was entitled to receive not less than 20% of

the assets of the Anturia Foundation.

172. Neschis and Littman intentiol1ally and wrongfully procured and effected the

elimination of the Last Valid By-Laws and plaintiffs rights thereunder by fraudulently obtaining the

execution of the October 19; 1992 By-Laws and/or the January 27, 1998 By-Laws.

173. Plaintiff's expectancy under the Last Valid By-Laws was reasonably certain

but for the fraudulent conduct of Neschis and Littman beCllnse Mrs. Gelman was or became

incompetent after the execution of the Last Valid By-Laws.

By Decision dated October 3, 2002, the Court disl11.issed plaintiffs claim for tortious
interference with expectancy of inheritance. The claim is pleaded here solely for purposes of
preserving plaintiffs right to appeal the dismissal at the appropriate time.
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174. In additiol1 j Neschis and Littman improperly converted the amounts ofinterest

earned on the Anturia Foundation assets that they fraudulently transfelTed to the Credit Suisse

account in New York to which they had access. The total interest diverted by Neschis and Littman

is estimated to be at least $10 million, and thus plaintiffWeizmann Institute's share of such interest

would be not less than $2 million.

175. As a result of the wrongful conduct ofNeschis and Littman, plaintiffhas been

deprived of its rightful il1terest in not less than 20'% of the full and undepleted assets of the Anturia

FOll11dation under the ten1.1S of the Last Valid By-Laws. Accordingly, plaintiff has been damaged

in the amount of not less than 20% of the funds improperly diverted plus il1terest, which is not less

than $11 million.

COUNTVU.I

FOR A DECLARATORY JUDGMENT
(Against All Defendants)

176. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-175.
I

177. The October 19,1992 By-Laws and the January 27,1998 By-Laws of the

Anturia Foundation were wrongfully procured by defendants Neschis, Littman and others by fraud t

duress and undue influence brought to bear on Mrs. Gelman after Mrs. Gelman was no longer of

sound m1t1d. Defendants' actions were not authorized by Mrs. Gelman and were designed to divert

Mrs. Gelmanls assets to the bene.fit of defendants and away from her legitimate beneficiaries.

By Decision dated October 3, 2002, the Court dismissed plaintiffs claim for a declaratoryjudgment. The claim is pleaded here solely for purposes of preserving plaintiffs right to appeal thedisl11.issaI at the appropri a.te time.
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178. The Inter Vivos Trust has wrongfully claimed a right to receive 58% of the

assets of the A.nturia Foundation in accordance with the January 27, 1998 By-Laws. If the assets

of the Anturia Foundation are distributed in accord~ce with the January 27, 1998 By-Laws, plaintiff

will be deprived of its rightful interest in the assets of the Anturia Foundation. Accordingly, a

justiciable controversy is presented.

179. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiffis entitled to a declaration that a) plaintiff

Weizmann Institute is entitled to receive a distriblltion of 20% of the assets, wherever located, of

the Anttlria Foundation, as increased by plaintiffs propol1ionate share of the forfeited interest of

Elizabeth Jung in the assets of the Antlllla Foundation; and b) no defendant may distribute, remove

or disburse any assets received from A.nturia Foundation prior to plaintiffreceivlng its rightful share

of 20% of the assets in .A.nturia Foundation at the time of Mrs. Gelman's death, as increased by

plainti ff s proportionate share of the forfei ted interest of Elizabeth Jung.

WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays fol' an order and judgment against defendants as

follows:

a. For damages against Neschis and Littman, jointly and severally,
and/or disgorgernent from the Inter Vivos Trust, in the amounts
improperly converted from plaintiff, to be proven at trial but not less
than $11 million;

b. For punitive damages against Neschis and Littman;

c. For treble dama.ges against Neschis and Littman pursuant to 18
U.S,C. § 1964(c) for defendants' civil RICO violations;

d. Impressing a constructive trust upon the assets of the Antuna
Foundation received by defendants for the benefit of the intended
beneficiaries of the assets of the Anturia Foundation in accordance
with the Last Valid By-Laws; I
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e. For a declaration that plaintiff Weizmann Institute is entitled to
receive a distribution of 20% of the assets, wherever located, of the
Antuna Foundation, as increased by plaintiffs proportionate share of
the forfeited interest of Elizabeth lung in the assets of the Antuna
Foundation;

f. For an order pennanently enJommg defendants from ltsing or
transferring any part of the assets received from the Anturia
Foundation directly to any person or entity, other than to the
Weizmann Institute, until the Weizmann Institute has received its
proportionate share of the assets in the Antuna Foundation at the time
of the death of Mrs. Gelman;

g. For the costs of this action, including attorneys' fees and amounts
expended in discovering defendants' fraUd; and

h. For such other and further relief as the Couli shall deem just and
proper.

Dated: New York, New York
October 30, 2002

PROSKA.UER ROSE LLP

1585 Broadway
New York, New York lO036~8299
(212) 969-3000

Attorneys for Plaintiff Weizmann Institute of
Scz'ence
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